UNIVERSITA' DEGLI STUDI DI MILANO



## Dipartimento di Scienze Farmacologiche e Biomolecolari Corso di Dottorato in Scienze Farmacologiche Sperimentali e Cliniche Ciclo XXX

# Regulation of the expression of heteromeric receptor subunits by modulation of mRNA stability – a case study of TRC40 receptor

Coordinatore: Prof. Alberico Luigi Catapano Relatore: Prof. Alberto Emilio Panerai Correlatori: Prof.ssa Nica Borgese Dott.ssa Sara Francesca Colombo

> Tesi di Dottorato di Ricerca di: **Hugo José Fernandes Carvalho** Matricola R10927

Anno accademico 2016/2017

# Table of contents

Abstract	5
Riassunto	6
List of abbreviations	9
	. 11
1.1 Protein complexes	12
1.1.1 Pharmacological receptors	13
1.2 Regulation of protein complex folding and assembly	15
1.2.1 Mechanisms of assembly	15
1.2.2 Regulation of the production of receptor subunits in the correct stoichiometric	
ratios	19
1.3 TRC40 pathway for Tail-anchored protein insertion	21
1.3.1 Tail-anchored (TA) membrane proteins	21
1.3.2 The GET system in yeast	25
1 3 3 The TRC40 nathway	28
1 3 3 1 CAMI	20
1 3 3 2 WRB	30
1 3 4 Regulation of CAMI /WRB	31
1 A Post-transcriptional regulation	2/
	54
AIM OF THE THESIS	. 39
	41
	. 41
3.1 Cell culture and manipulation	42
3.1.1 Cells	42
3.1.2 Transcription inhibition	42
3.1.3 Transfection	43
3.1.3.1 Gene silencing	43
3.1.3.2 Transient gene overexpression	45
3.2 Molecular biology techniques	47
3.2.1 Construct preparation	47
3.2.1.1 Polymerase Chain Reaction	47
3.2.1.2 Restriction Enzyme Digestion	47
3.2.1.3 Agarose gel electrophoresis	48
3.2.1.4 Purification of DNA fragments	48
3.2.1.5 Ligation of DNA fragments to plasmid vectors	48
3.2.1.6 TA-cloning	49
3.2.1.7 Preparation of competent bacteria	49
3.2.1.8 Transformation of plasmid DNA into competent bacteria	50
3.2.1.9 Plasmid DNA extraction from bacteria	51
3.2.1.10 Constructs	52
3.2.2 KI-qPCR	53
3.2.2.1 RNA extraction	55
3.2.2.2 Reverse-transcription	55
3.2.2.3 Yruk	56
3.2.3 Kapia Amplification of CDNA Ends	56
3.2.4 Dual-luciterase reporter assay	5/
3.3 Biochemical methods	58
3.3.1 Immunoprecipitation and Co-immunoprecipitation	58
3.3.2 SDS-PAGE	60

RESULTS	63
4.1 The stability of the mRNA of the two subunits	64
4.2 The effect of CAML silencing on the expression of a WRB transcript that lacks the	
endogenous UTRs	65
4.3 The WRB 3' UTR	66
4.4 The role of the UTRs in the regulation of WRB mRNA expression and on its CAML-	
sensitive stability	68
4.5 Characterization of the WRB-CAML interaction	72
4.6 The effect of WRB silencing on CAML transcript stability	75
DISCUSSION	70
5.1 How CAMI deplotion affects WPB lovels	20
5.1.1 WRB transcript stabilization is mediated by CAML protain and not CAML transcrip	
5.1.1 WIND transcript stabilization is mediated by CAME protein and not CAME transcrip	20 20
5 1 2 WRB transcript stabilization by CAML is mediated by the 3' LITR	80 81
5.1.2 With transcript stabilization by CAME is mediated by the 5-011.	01 Q1
5.1.5 AO- The WBB transcript ABEs are not involved in mediating CAML-sensitive instability	83
5.1.4 The WND transcript ANL's are not involved in mediating CAML-sensitive instability.	03
5.1.5 What is the mechanism through which CAME stabilizes the WKB transcript:	05
5.1.0 WRB IIRNA'S CAWL-SENSILIVE SLADINLY. A TAIISATE MECHANISM to avoid useless	ол
E 2 How MDD doubtion offects CANAL levels	04 05
5.2 How WKB depiction affects CAIVIL levels	85 00
5.3 Conclusions	86
References	89

#### Abstract

In recent years, the mechanisms of post-transcriptional regulation of gene expression have gained increased attention, including their importance in oligomeric protein assembly. The ER based proteins CAML and WRB have been described to form a heteromeric protein complex that functions as a receptor for the TRC40 ATPase, mediating the post-translational insertion of tail-anchored proteins into the ER membrane. A recent study showed that, even if the two proteins are not in a stoichiometric equilibrium - CAML is in ~5-fold excess over WRB -, the transient siRNA mediated depletion of each one of the two subunits, in HeLa cells, leads to the depletion of the second one. Interestingly, the silencing of CAML leads not only to the depletion of WRB protein but also to the depletion and strong destabilization of WRB mRNA, revealing a novel mechanism for the regulation of the expression of different subunits of a protein complex. In this thesis, I have followed up on this work, trying to unveil the mechanisms involved in the co-regulation of the expression and assembly of the TRC40 receptor complex. My results demonstrate that the interplay observed at the transcript level is not reciprocal, i.e. CAML mRNA is not affected by WRB siRNA mediated depletion, and that the CAML-sensitivity of the WRB transcript is attributable to a relatively small portion (370 nt) of its 3' untranslated sequence (UTR), as shown by the results obtained with the dual-luciferase reporter system. Moreover, co-IP experiments show that CAML is indeed in excess over WRB and that a WRB-free population of CAML exists. It remains however unclear, what mechanism may explain the depletion of CAML upon WRB silencing. Finally, I propose a model according to which, on the one hand, CAML protein either directly or indirectly interacts with the 3'UTR of WRB, promoting is stability, which is lost when CAML is silenced. On the other hand, CAML may be inserted in the ER membrane in an unusual way, via the TRC40 pathway, meaning that it would require a functional TRC40 receptor complex, which is lost when WRB is silenced. The resulting non-inserted CAML molecules would then be degraded by the ubiquitinproteasome system. Future work is required to further understand the precise mechanisms involved in the co-regulation of the expression of the two subunits of the TRC40 receptor. This work could pave the way for the discovery of new posttranscriptional co-regulatory mechanisms for the expression and assembly of oligomeric protein subunits, which could very well be relevant to many different protein complexes.

#### Riassunto

Durante gli ultimi anni, un'attenzione crescente è stata rivolta ai meccanismi della regolazione dell'espressione genica post-trascrizionale, meccanismi che rivestono particolare importanza nell'assemblaggio di proteine oligomeriche. Le proteine del reticolo endoplasmatico, CAML e WRB, formano un complesso eteromerico che funziona come recettore dell'ATPasi TRC40, mediando così l'inserimento nella membrana dell'ER delle proteine "tail-anchored" (cioè con àncora transmembrana Cterminale). Uno studio recente ha dimostrato che anche se queste due proteine non sono in equilibrio stechiometrico - poiché CAML è in eccesso molare di 5 volte rispetto a WRB -, il silenziamento transiente tramite siRNA di ciascuna delle subunità, in cellule HeLa, causa la deplezione della seconda. Un'osservazione molto interessante di questo studio è stata che il silenziamento di CAML non solo porta alla deplezione della proteina WRB ma anche alla destabilizzazione del corrispondente mRNA, rivelando così un nuovo meccanismo per la regolazione dell'espressione delle subunità di un complesso proteico. In questa tesi sono partito da questa osservazione con lo scopo di svelare i meccanismi coinvolti nella co-regolazione dell'espressione e assemblaggio del complesso recettoriale per TRC40. I risultati ottenuti dimostrano che l'effetto del silenziamento di ciascuna delle subunità sull'mRNA dell'altra non è reciproco, poiché i livelli dell'mRNA di CAML non sono modificati in seguito a deplezione di WRB. Ho dimostrato inoltre che la sensibilità del trascritto WRB alla mancanza di CAML è attribuibile a una porzione ristretta (370 nt) della regione 3' non tradotta (3'UTR), come dimostrato da esperimenti usando il sistema reporter della luciferasi. Inoltre, esperimenti di co-IP hanno confermato l'eccesso molare di CAML rispetto a WRB e dimostrato che nel reticolo esiste una popolazione di molecole CAML non associate a WRB, lasciando quindi aperto il meccanismo tramite cui WRB, in proporzioni sub-stechiometriche, garantisce la stabilità di CAML. Propongo un modello secondo il quale, da una parte, la proteina CAML interagisce, direttamente o indirettamente, con il 3'UTR del trascritto WRB stabilizzandolo; dall'altra CAML è inserito in membrana tramite il recettore TRC40, che viene a mancare quando WRB è silenziato. Le molecole di CAML non inserite verrebbero poi eliminate dal sistema ubiquitina-proteasoma. Ulteriori studi sono richiesti per la comprensione precisa dei meccanismi coinvolti nella co-regolazione dell'espressione delle due subunità del recettore TRC40. Tali studi potrebbero aprire vie per la scoperta di nuovi meccanismi post-trascrizionali regolatori dell'espressione e assemblaggio di oligomeri che potrebbero essere di rilevanza per altri complessi proteici.

# List of abbreviations

- ARE AU-rich element
- ARE-BP AU-rich element binding protein
- CAML Calcium modulating ligand
- CDH5 Congenital heart disease 5 protein
- cDNA Complementary DNA
- Co-IP Co-immunoprecipitation
- Ct Threshold cycle
- Cyt b5 Cytochrome b5
- DB Denaturation buffer
- DBC Deoxy big chaps
- DMEM Dulbecco's modified eagle medium
- dNTP deoxynucleotide triphosphate
- DRB 5,6-dichloro-1- $\beta$ -D-ribofuranosylbenzimidazole
- DS Down syndrome
- EGFR Epidermal growth factor receptor
- eIF Eukaryotic initiation factor
- EJC Exon junction complex
- ER Endoplasmic reticulum
- ERAD ER-associated degradation
- FBS Fetal bovine serum
- FRET Fluorescence resonance energy transfer
- GET Golgi to ER traffic
- hERG Human ether-à-go-go-related gene
- Hsa1 Distal region of the long arm of chromosome 21
- IP Immunoprecipitation
- IRES Internal ribosomal entry site
- KH K-homology
- MOM Mitocondrial outer membrane
- mRNA Messenger RNA
- mRNP messenger ribonucleoprotein particle
- NMD Nonsense-mediated mRNA decay

- ORF Open reading frame
- PABP Poly(A) binding protein
- PAGE Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
- P-Body Processing body
- PBS Phosphate-buffered saline
- PCR Polymerase chain reaction
- PDI Protein disulphide isomerase
- PIC Protease inhibitor cocktail
- PNS Post nuclear supernatant
- Pre-mRNA Precursor mRNA
- P/S Penicillin/streptomycin antibiotic mix
- PTP1B Protein tyrosine phosphatase 1B
- qPCR quantitative PCR
- RACE Rapid amplification of cDNA ends
- RBP RNA-binding protein
- RISC microRNA-induced silencing complex
- RRM RNA-recognition motifs
- RT-qPCR Reverse transcription quantitative PCR
- SDS Sodium dodecyl sulfate
- Sgt2 Small Glu-rich tetratricopeptide repeat-containing 2
- siRNA small interfering RNA
- SND SRP-independent pathway
- SRP Signal recognition particle
- TA protein Tail-anchored protein
- TAE Tris-acetate buffer
- TCR T-cell receptor
- TMD Transmembrane domain
- TRC40 40 kDa subunit of the transmembrane domain recognition complex
- uORF upstream ORF
- UPS Ubiquitin proteasome system
- UTR Untranslated region
- WRB Tryptophan rich protein

# INTRODUCTION

### 1.1 Protein complexes

Proteins are one of the building blocks of life. The genetic information contained in the DNA is transcribed into RNA that is then translated into protein in a flow of information that Crick defined as the Central Dogma of Biology.

During translation, the ribosome reads the information contained in the messenger RNA (mRNA), encrypted in the four-letter genetic code, and translates each triplet - codon - into the corresponding amino acid, catalysing the formation of a chain of chemically bound amino acid residues that precisely represents the sequence carried by the mRNA.

The resulting polypeptide chain represents the primary structure of a protein. The intrinsic properties of the amino acids that compose a polypeptide chain confer to them well defined physico-chemical characteristics that play a major role in the final protein structure. The process of folding the polypeptide chain into the mature protein begins with the local interaction of the different amino acids in the sequence that, by forming hydrogen bonds between them define the secondary structure of the protein. The most common secondary structures formed are  $\alpha$ -helixes and  $\beta$ -sheets. Various combinations of secondary structures can be present in a polypeptide chain, forming protein domains.

The formation of the tertiary structure of a protein, the overall three-dimensional form of the protein, is mostly driven by the forces exerted by the contact of the different amino acids with the surrounding medium. The different amino acids present different levels of hydrophobicity under physiological conditions, some amino acids are very hydrophobic while others are hydrophilic. Thus, the polypeptide chain tends to turn and twist to accommodate hydrophobic amino acids in the interior of the protein, while the hydrophilic amino acids remain exposed in the exterior, shielding the interior from the aqueous medium. This way, the protein will find itself in its lowest-energy state and therefore in its most stable state. To provide strength to this conformation, and higher stability, often disulphide bridges between cysteine residues, additional hydrogen bonds or other interaction are created in this step.

In many cases, proteins are composed of multiple polypeptide chains, referred to as protein subunits. These subunits can be identical (homomers) or different (heteromers). In these cases, two or more polypeptides form a larger aggregate protein complex by interacting with each other and often rearranging themselves to obtain a higher stability.

Throughout the maturation process the proteins are subjected to various forms of modification, called post-translational modifications, that serve to either increase or decrease their stability.

The folding and maturation of a protein or a protein complex into its final, native state, where it is in its most stable natural conformation is thus regulated at multiple levels, always driven by a common denominator, stability. When incompletely folded proteins find each other, it is highly probable that their hydrophobic regions will interact, creating aggregates of unfolded proteins. The tight regulation of folding and assembly is extremely important, since the presence of aggregated unfolded proteins can be detrimental for cellular homeostasis. Thus, when a protein for some reason loses its functional conformation, it is soon targeted for degradation, since the accumulation of unstable proteins could ultimately lead to cell death (Alberts et al. 2014; Nelson et al. 2012).

#### 1.1.1 Pharmacological receptors

A receptor is a macromolecule, often a protein or a complex of proteins, that interacts with chemical substances such as hormones, neurotransmitters, intracellular messengers or drugs, transmitting chemical signals inside and between cells. This signal transmission triggers a response in the form of a change in cellular function.

Most drugs act by targeting cellular receptors, changing their function or activity dynamics, either as agonists or antagonists. These receptors can be divided in two main families: membrane receptors and intracellular receptors.

Some examples of intracellular receptors are the receptors for steroids, thyroid hormone, vitamin A and D, oestrogen and retinoic acid. These are generally formed by monomeric proteins composed of three main domains: (i) a C-terminal ligand binding site; (ii) a central DNA binding domain, specific for a particular DNA sequence; and (iii) a N-terminal regulatory domain responsible for gene transactivation.

The wider family of membrane receptors, on the other hand, can be further divided into three major subgroups: ligand-gated ion channels, G protein-coupled receptors and enzyme-linked receptors. The latter classes are most commonly monomeric proteins, while the first are oligomeric proteins, which I describe here.

Ligand-gated ion channels are membrane-embedded oligomeric protein complexes that upon ligand binding, undergo a transitory conformational change that opens a channel through the membrane, through which ions flow, causing a variation in the membrane electric potential. These protein complexes, that can be either homo or heteromeric, are composed of three, four or five subunits. Depending on the ions that permeate these receptors, they can induce a ligand mediated depolarization or hyperpolarization of the membrane, which is then important for several cellular functions and responses. Examples of this class of receptors are nicotinic, glutamate, serotonin, nucleotide, GABA, and glycine receptors. The intrinsic multimeric nature of this type of receptors, makes the assembly process of the complex a key step towards their proper function. Thus, one important aspect of the biology, of oligomeric ligand-gated ion channels, is the regulation of the assembly of the receptor complex: how the expression of each subunit is controlled and how the different subunits interact with each other to create a final, functional complex (Paoletti et al. 2004; Golan et al. 2006).

# 1.2 Regulation of protein complex folding and assembly

#### 1.2.1 Mechanisms of assembly

The intracellular environment is a crowed place or, to be more precise, presents a strong exclusion volume effect. This effect is defined by the fact that each individual molecule occupies a certain space that, obviously, cannot be occupied by another molecule, thus that volume is unavailable for other molecules and is then said to be excluded from the total volume. Typically, macromolecules occupy approximately 20-30 % of the intracellular milieu that is further occupied by diverse small molecules and solvents. This crowding effect is tightly related to the size of the molecule in question, so it is easy to imagine that entities such as proteins will be strongly affected by it (Ellis 2001).

Crowding is thus a very important factor when talking about the regulation of protein folding, assembly and function. This has been extensively studied regarding the problem of protein folding. If earlier studies showed that small globular proteins could be denatured and re-folded back to the native state in vitro, in the absence of any other adjuvant (Anfinsen et al. 1961), later studies started to demonstrate that this may not be the case for more complex polypeptides. In fact, it has been shown that, some proteins assemble in vitro very inefficiently, but that the addition of crowding agents greatly increases the ability of the polypeptide to fold into the native conformation in-vitro by favouring the most compact state (Galán et al. 2001). However, the effects of crowding are not always positive. It has been demonstrated that the proper refolding of reduced lysozyme was abolished due to aggregation when in the presence of crowding agents. Yet, that aggregation was avoided when protein disulphide isomerase (PDI) was added to the reaction, this due both to PDI's activity as disulphide bond catalyst and as molecular chaperone. Furthermore, it was shown that under crowding conditions, PDI was a much more effective molecular chaperone than that under dilute conditions (Van Den Berg et al. 1999).

These are but examples of a large body of work, developed over the years, that showed that the essential information for the folding of the polypeptide chain into the native, most stable conformation, is embedded in the polypeptide sequence itself and that in some cases proteins can spontaneously fold by themselves in vitro. However, the highly crowded intracellular environment in which polypeptides are synthesised often poses a barrier for the efficient folding of the proteins. In fact, crowding should favour aggregation by increasing the thermodynamic activity of partly folded polypeptides. This effect is on the one hand, greater for smaller polypeptides, since large ones have a reduced rate of diffusion and consequently of encounter with other macromolecules, and on the other hand, enhances the aggregation of slow-folding chains, as fast-folding chains can internalize their hydrophobic surfaces before these can bind to those in other chains (Ellis 2001). Thus, the ability to fold, imprinted in the polypeptide sequence is not the sole parameter determining proper folding. The rate at which the folding happens is also important and determines the probability that a given polypeptide will interact with another one, before being completely folded, controlling in this way the formation of nonspecific aggregates. So, to overcome these issues, evolution found its solution in the use of molecular chaperones that aid the polypeptide in its folding process, while preventing non-intended interactions with other proteins that could lead to aggregation. The different levels of folding assistance start already co-translationally, while the ribosome is synthesising the polypeptide; indeed, there is even evidence that folding begins inside the ribosomal exit tunnel (Nilsson et al. 2015).

The intricate processes that govern polypeptide folding are very well studied and progress is being made towards the prediction of the final native conformation of a protein, with a fairly good level of accuracy, by analysing the polypeptide sequence. Even more complex is the process of assembly of protein complexes composed of multiple subunits. It is well accepted though, that some of the forces that drive protein folding may also be important for protein complex assembly. This assembly is likely driven by the need of a subunit to find the right binding partner in order to shift towards a lower energetic state, this, while avoiding casual transient interactions that may lead to protein aggregation, and all this in the previously described crowded intracellular environment. Thus, if protein folding is very likely to be a process for which regulation starts immediately after translation, to reduce the risk of misfolding and aggregation, and to lower the overall energy needed for the process, the same is probably true for the assembly of multimeric protein complexes (Natan et al. 2017).

Indeed, considering the expected low diffusion rate of large complex subunits in crowded conditions, it is natural to predict that assembly could, at least in certain cases,

happen co-translationally (Siwiak and Zielenkiewicz 2015). The co-translational assembly of homomeric complexes can be idealized in manner more straight forward than that of heteromers. Homomers, as detailed above, are composed of a single subunit type, thus they can be formed by polypeptides being translated in the same polyribosome (Fig. 1.1-A). In this way, the nascent peptides of two monomers could begin interacting and assembling before either one of the subunits is fully translated. Another view is that a fully translated subunit can interact with the nascent chain of a second subunit initiating the co-translational assembly (Natan et al. 2017; Wells et al. 2015). The first proposed case of co-translational homomer assembly was that of  $\beta$ -Galactosidase in the 60's (Kiho and Rich 1964).

The assembly of heteromers, can be more complex. In prokaryotes, the hypothesis of co-translational assembly of heteromers can be interpreted in the same way as described above for homomers, since it is widely accepted that the operon architecture of prokaryotic genes generally puts together in a polycistronic messenger RNA proteins that physically interact (Dandekarab et al. 1998; Shieh et al. 2015). Thus, each subunit is translated in the same operon in a sequential manner and the co-translational assembly is facilitated by the proximity between the interacting subunits (Fig. 1.1-C) (Li et al. 2014).

Co-translational assembly of heteromeric complexes in eukaryotes, however, presents an additional challenge. In eukaryotes, each gene is translated from a monocystronic mRNA, thus, co-translational assembly can happen in two major modes (Fig. 1.1-B): (i) a fully translated subunit may interact with the nascent chain of the second subunit, initiating the assembly while it is being translated, or (ii) two different polyribosomes, translating in proximity, allow for the interaction of the nascent chains of two subunits of a protein complex. In these cases, an extra level of regulation is present, the regulation of the spatio-temporal localization of mRNA, which is very important to allow for the interaction by proximity of the two newly formed polypeptides. In agreement, Duncan and Mata (2011) have shown that 40 % of a selected number of proteins, that did not have any canonical RNA binding domains, interacted with the mRNAs of binding partners in a translation dependent manner. Moreover, Morisaki and colleagues (Morisaki et al. 2016), using recently developed microscopy techniques that allow the visualization at single molecule resolution of real-time, live translation, observed the existence of a population of polysomes that were translating two different

transcripts in a complex that could be tracked over-time. Recently, a work by Liu and colleagues (Liu et al. 2016), demonstrated that the mRNA of the two subunits of an heteromeric K<sup>+</sup> channel (hERG) are bound by a RNA binding protein that determines the proximity of the two transcripts, allowing the assembly of the complex co-translationally. The importance of the regulation of co-translational complex assembly for the stability and overall functionality of the resulting protein complex is thus becoming evident.



**Fig. 1.1** - Models for co-translational assembly of protein complexes. (A) Assembly of homomeric complexes. (B) Assembly of heteromeric complexes. (C) Assembly of prokaryote protein complexes by polycistronic mRNA. (Adapted from Natan et al. 2017)

# 1.2.2 Regulation of the production of receptor subunits in the correct stoichiometric ratios

An important problem in the production of oligomeric complexes is to avoid the generation of an excess of one type of subunit over its partners. Indeed, an unassembled subunit, by exposing hydrophobic patches destined for interaction with partner subunits, could aggregate, with deleterious effects for the cell. As already mentioned, in prokaryotes this problem is solved by including the cistrons for oligomer subunits in the same operon., under the control of the same promoter. This arrangement leads to production of the subunits in stoichiometric ratio. Prokaryotes appear to exert a tight transcriptional control that guarantees the same levels of expression of genes encoding complex subunits even when these are not contained in the same operon, as demonstrated by a recent study of the group of Jonathan Weissman (Li et al. 2014).

In eukaryotes, the transcriptional regulation of genes encoding subunits of the same complex has been less investigated. However, eukaryotic cells have a safeguard against unaccompanied complex subunits: these are recognised by the ubiquitin proteasome system (UPS), and degraded. Indeed, recently a mechanism responsible for the recognition of unassembled proteins was identified (Yanagitani et al. 2017). The instability of "lonely" subunits has become particularly visible since the introduction of silencing technology. There are countless examples in which knockdown of one oligomer subunit causes depletion of the other subunits of the complex (Peth et al. 2007; Colombo et al. 2016; Rivera-Monroy et al. 2016; Shrimal et al. 2017; to cite just a few). For receptors destined to the cell surface, this quality control system operates at the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), where newly synthesised subunits are born. Incompletely assembled oligomers and single subunits are not allowed to be exported to the Golgi apparatus and are instead retro-translocated to the cytoplasm, ubiquitinilated and degraded by the proteasome in a process known as ER-associated degradation (ERAD) (Bernasconi and Molinari 2011).

In summary, to ensure efficient oligomer assembly, the eukaryotic cell controls gene transcription, maximizes assembly efficiency and disposes of any uncoupled subunits. There are, however, a number of steps in this general picture that remain to be elucidated, as well as different behaviours and different modes of degradation of different oligomers.

In my work, I have taken the case of a heteromeric receptor composed of two subunits, the TRC40 (40kDa subunit of the transmembrane domain recognition complex) receptor, for which previous work from my laboratory indicated a novel and intriguing mechanism of subunit co-regulation. My work could pave the way for the characterisation of a new mechanism regulating oligomeric complex expression and assembly that could operate also in pharmacologically relevant protein complexes.

## 1.3 TRC40 pathway for Tail-anchored protein insertion

#### 1.3.1 Tail-anchored (TA) membrane proteins

It is estimated that about 30% of the genes of most genomes code for membrane proteins (Krogh et al. 2001), which, depending on number of transmembrane domains (TMD) and topological orientation can present a wide structural diversity. Most membrane proteins are assembled in the ER. In this cellular compartment, they are inserted into the membrane, fold and assemble into protein complexes. Apart from some exceptions, membrane proteins are inserted in the membrane co-translationally, via the signal recognition particle (SRP) pathway. During translation, when the first hydrophobic element, either a cleavable N-terminal sequence or a TMD, gets out of the ribosomal tunnel, it is recognized by the SRP that binds to the domain, causing a pause in translation. SRP then brings the entire translating unit to the ER by interacting with the SRP receptor. When in the ER, the SRP hands down the translation is resumed. The translocon then mediates the lateral insertion of the TMDs in the membrane and translocation of exoplasmic domain(s) across the ER membrane (Shao and Hegde 2011) (see Fig 1.2).



Fig. 1.2 - Representation of the SRP pathway. Adapted from Hegde and Keenan 2011

One well studied exception of this mechanism is the case of TA proteins. TA proteins are predicted to be distributed in all domains of life and they represent ~3-5% of all membrane proteins (Beilharz et al. 2003; Kalbfleisch et al. 2007; Borgese and Righi 2010). This class of protein is characterized by having a single TMD no more than ~30 residues from the C-terminus. This topology, combined with the lack of an N-terminal signal sequence, excludes TA proteins from the SRP pathway (Kutay, Hartmann, and Rapoport 1993; Borgese, Colombo, and Pedrazzini 2003). This is because, the TMD is so close to the C-terminus that it emerges from the ribosomal tunnel only upon termination and release of the translated polypeptide, thus the newly synthesized TA proteins must be inserted in the ER membrane post-translationally. Several TA proteins have been found to be players in several basic cellular processes, of which some examples are listed in Table 1.1.

Target membrane	TA protein	Function
ER	Sec61β	Protein translocation
	Ramp4	Protein translocation
	Synaptobrevin-2	SNARE required for synaptic vesicle exocytosis
	Sed5	Golgi SNARE
	Cyt b5	Lipid metabolism in the ER
МОМ	Small TOM proteins	Protein translocation
	OMb5	Enzymatic
	VAMP-1B	SNARE
	Bcl-XL, Bak	Regulation of apoptosis
Peroxisomes	Pex26	Peroxisome biogenesis
Dual targeting: ER and MOM	Bcl-2	Regulation of apoptosis
Dual targeting: MOM and peroxisomes	Fis1	Mitochondrial and peroxisomal fission

 Table 1.1 - Examples of TA protein targeting and function. (Adapted from Borgese and Fasana 2011)

The mechanisms of post-translational translocation of TA proteins have been the focus of a great deal of work in the past decade. Depending on the physical properties of the TMD and on the target membrane organelle, TA proteins have been shown to be targeted and to insert into membranes through diverse mechanisms.

TA proteins with low hydrophobic TMDs, like cytochrome b5 (cyt b5) and protein tyrosine phosphatase 1B (PTP1B), are able to insert into biological membranes

and even into pure phospholipid bilayers spontaneously, without the need for any additional machinery (Brambillasca et al. 2005, 2006; Colombo et al. 2009; Fueller et al. 2015). The mechanism of the *in-vivo* targeting of these proteins is somewhat obscure, although it seems that lipid composition plays an important role (Brambillasca et al. 2005). In addition, the group of Stephen High (Abell et al. 2007; Rabu et al. 2008) showed that, the chaperoning complex Hsp40/Hsc70 is able to mediate the ATP-dependent insertion of at least a subset of TA proteins containing moderately hydrophobic TMDs, like that of cyt b5, into the ER membrane. The precise mechanism by which this mediation takes place is still not completely understood since a membrane receptor for Hsp40/Hsc70 is still to be found. The current view is that this chaperone complex keeps TA proteins in an integration-competent form, preventing aggregation until the proteins reach the target membranes.

A second pathway that has been reported for a subset of TA proteins with TMDs with a higher degree of hydrophobicity involves the participation of SRP in an unusual post-translational mode. It is thought that ribosome-associated SRP captures the substrate's TMD immediately upon release from the ribosome (Abell et al. 2004).

Most importantly, a 40 kDa AAA ATPase, called TMD recognition complex (TRC)40, (previously annotated Asna1) was shown to bind to TA proteins' TMD and to be responsible for their targeting to the ER membrane (Stefanovic and Hegde 2007; Favaloro et al. 2008). These were the first of a series of studies that characterized the TRC40 pathway in mammals and the homologous GET system in yeast. This pathway is widely accepted to be the most important mechanism for the post-translational insertion of TA proteins in the ER membrane and will be further discussed in the following sections.

Recently, a set of yeast proteins, called SND (SRP-independent pathway) protein, were shown to be able to mediate the ER targeting and translocation of ER substrates (Aviram et al. 2016). The authors demonstrate that the SND pathway works in parallel with both the SRP and GET pathways, contributing to the ER targeting of both secretory and TA proteins.

An issue that remains to be completely understood is the targeting and insertion of TA proteins in other membrane organelles. For mitochondria, the most accepted hypothesis is that TA proteins are spontaneously inserted in the mitochondrial outer membrane (MOM) (Kemper et al. 2008). It is however, unclear what is the mechanism by which those proteins are selectively targeted to the mitochondria. Recent results indicate that TA proteins with moderately hydrophobic TMDs may, by default, be spontaneously inserted in the MOM and may need some energy-dependent mechanism, other than those already discussed to be targeted to the ER instead (Costa et al. 2017 *manuscript submitted for publication*).

The peroxisome is another organelle that appears to have its own TA protein insertion machinery that may act in parallel with the traditional ER-trafficking route. In this organelle, PEX19 and PEX3 have been shown to be responsible for the insertion of several TA proteins as well as of other membrane proteins (Halbach et al. 2006; Mayerhofer 2016).

TA proteins are, as already mentioned, quite abundant in the eukaryotic proteome. They are well distributed between all membrane systems of eukaryotic cells and there are examples of TA proteins having a role in almost every aspect of cell biology (see Table 1.1). Several TA proteins are linked to diverse pathologies, some examples of which are listed in Table 1.2. Thus, a detailed understanding of their biogenesis could provide insight into unknown roles played by TA proteins in other diseases, caused not only by mutations in the TA proteins themselves, but also by dysregulations of the cellular machinery involved in their targeting and insertion into membranes. Such knowledge could lead to the discovery of novel therapeutical targets.

TA protein	Gene	Pathology associated
Aldehyde dehydrogenase 3A2 isoform 2	ALDH3A2	Sjogren-Larsson syndrome
Apoptosis regulator Bcl2	BCL2	Chronic lymphatic leukaemia
Cardiac phospholamban	PLN	Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy; Dilated cardiomyopathy
Cytochrome b5	CYB5A	Methemoglobinemia
Dysferin	DYSF	Limb-girdle muscular dystrophy 2B; Miyoshi muscular dystrophy;
Emerin	EMD	Dreifuss-Emery muscular dystrophy
FXYD domain-containing ion transport regulator 2 isoform 1	FXYD2	Renal hypomagnesemia-2
Golgi SNAP receptor complex member 2	GOSR2	Epilepsy, progressive myoclonic 6
Golgin subfamily A member 5	GOLGA5	Papillary thyroid carcinomas
Hereditary hemochromatosis protein	HFE	Hemochromatosis 1; Microvascular complications of diabetes 7
Junctophilin-2	JPH2	Cardiomyopathy, familial hypertrophic 17
Junctophilin-3	JPH3	Huntington disease-like 2
Mitochondrial fission factor	MFF	Encephalopathy due to defective mitochondrial and peroxisomal fission 2
Monoamine oxidase A	MAOA	Brunner syndrome
Myotonin-protein kinase	DMPK	Dystrophia myotonica 1
Otoferlin	OTOF	Deafness, autosomal recessive, 9; Auditory neuropathy, autosomal recessive, 1
Potassium voltage-gated channel subfamily E member 3	KCNE3	Brugada syndrome
Regulator of G-protein signaling 9- binding protein	RGS9BP	Prolonged electroretinal response suppression
Selectin L	SELL	Immunoglobulin A nephropathy
Syntaxin-1B	STX1B	Generalized epilepsy with febrile seizures plus 9
Sodium/potassium-transporting ATPase subunit gamma	FXYD2	Hypomagnesemia 2
Syntaxin 16 isoform a	STX16	Pseudohypoparathyroidism type Ib
Syntaxin 1A	STX1A	Williams-Beuren syndrome
Tectonic-3	TCTN3	Orofaciodigital syndrome 4; Joubert syndrome 18
Threonylcarbamoyladenosine tRNA methylthiotransferase	CDKAL1	Diabetes mellitus, non-insulin-dependent
Thymopoietin isoform beta/gamma	ТМРО	Dilated cardiomyopathy
VAMP-associated protein B/C	VAPB	Amyotrophic lateral scelerosis 8
Vesicle-associated membrane protein 1	VAMP1	Spastic ataxia 1, autosomal dominant

**Table 1.2** - Examples of pathologies associated with TA proteins. (Source: Kalbfleisch, 2007; TheUniProt Consortium 2017)

#### 1.3.2 The GET system in yeast

As stated before, Stefanovic and Hegde found TRC40 to bind and effectively delivery TA proteins to the ER membrane in an energy dependent way (Stefanovic and Hegde 2007), an observation that was reported independently by Favaloro et al. (2008).

At this point, no other components of the TRC40 pathway were known, but its yeast homolog, Get3 had just been discovered, in a comprehensive genetic interaction study, to be part of a complex involved in Golgi to ER traffic (GET) together with Get1 and Get2 (Schuldiner et al. 2005). Thus, it was not long until all three components of the yeast GET complex were shown to participate in the post-translational insertion of TA proteins. Get3, being the homolog for TRC40, is the chaperone with ATPase activity that binds to the TA protein TMD after translation and delivers it to the ER membrane, where Get1 and Get2 are the two subunits of a membrane receptor that binds Get3 and mediates the insertion of the TA proteins (Schuldiner et al. 2008). These discoveries led to the conclusion that the initial findings on the GET complex - its involvement in Golgi to ER trafficking and all otherwise unconnected phenotypes - were secondary effects caused by an impairment in TA protein insertion. Recent work, however, showed that things are not that simple and that in fact, some components of the GET system may have additional functions (Powis et al. 2013; Voth et al. 2014).

Subsequently, Get4 and Get 5 (Jonikas et al. 2009) and Sgt2 (small Glu-rich tetratricopeptide repeat-containing 2) (Costanzo et al. 2010) were discovered as three additional members of the GET pathway. With the major players defined, the mechanism by which TA proteins are inserted in the ER membrane in yeast was elucidated using a combination of structural and functional studies.

As schematized in Fig. 1.3, after translation, TA proteins are captured at the exit of the ribosomal tunnel by Sgt2 that binds directly to the TMD of TA proteins, acting as a chaperone that prevents TA protein aggregation or mistargeting, before handing them down to Get 3. For this hand-off to occur, Sgt2 binds the ubiquitin-like domain of Get5, to interact with the Get4-Get5 sub-complex, that serves as a bridge between Sgt2 and Get3 (the latter binds to Get4) (Wang et al. 2010). Crucially, Get4 selectively binds the ATPbound (and thus TA TMD receptive) conformation of Get3 (Chartron et al. 2010), allowing the transfer of the TA protein from Sgt2 to Get3. Get3 is a homodimeric ATPase that, when bound to ATP is in a closed conformation that allows for the binding of TA TMDs and when ATP is hydrolysed transits to an open conformation that releases the TA proteins. Upon transfer of TA protein substrate from Sgt2 to Get3, Get3 carries the TA proteins in the cytosol, shielding and maintaining the solubility of the hydrophobic TMD, inside a hydrophobic groove that spans both Get3 monomers, arriving at the membrane in a closed conformation (Mateja et al. 2009, 2015).



Fig. 1.3 - Representation of the GET system in yeast. Adapted from Hegde and Keenan 2011

Get3 then delivers the TA protein to its ER membrane receptor, formed by Get1 and Get2. The two monomers are bound by their transmembrane domains in a heterodimeric or tetrameric complex (Zalisko et al. 2017) and interact with Get3 via the cytosolic domains in a stepwise manner (Mateja et al. 2009, 2015; Mariappan et al. 2011; Wang et al. 2011; Stefer et al. 2011; Rome et al. 2014). First, the flexible cytosolic domain of Get2 captures the Get3/TA complex, by binding to one of the subunits of Get3, bringing it close to Get1; in this process, the ATP bound to Get3 is hydrolysed shifting the conformation into a partially destabilized closed conformation. Get1 then binds to Get3, creating a transient complex in which Get3 is bound simultaneously by Get2 on one side and Get1 on the opposite side (Zalisko et al. 2017). This transient interaction drives the Get3/TA complex from the previous partially destabilized closed conformation into an open conformation that disrupts the hydrophobic TA protein binding site, releasing the protein. After release, the TMDs of Get1 and Get2 capture the TMD of the TA proteins and may subsequently facilitate the entry of the tail-anchor into the membrane, acting as an insertase (Wang et al. 2014). Get3 is again bound by ATP, which interrupts its interaction with Get1 and is recycled back to the cytosol where again is available for interaction with the Get4/Get5 pre-targeting complex.

#### 1.3.3 The TRC40 pathway

The advances in the understanding the molecular mechanisms of posttranslational TA protein insertion in yeast allowed for a parallel definition, mostly through homology, of the players and mechanisms that compose the TRC40 pathway in mammals.

In mammals, the pre-targeting complex is composed of the Sgt2 homolog, SGTA, a complex homologous to Get4/Get5 (TRC35/UBL4A in mammals), but that has a third component, Bag6 that seems to act as scaffold for the interaction between TRC35 and UBL4A; indeed, unlike the yeast homologs, the latter two proteins are not able to directly interact (Chartron et al. 2012). This pre-targeting complex, is then responsible for the capture of TA proteins from the ribosome and for its delivery to the TRC40 homodimer. Moreover, the Bag6 complex has been seen to be involved in protein quality control, binding a wide range of hydrophobic substrates and mediating the degradation of mistargeted proteins (Hessa et al. 2011).

As for the membrane components of the TRC40 pathway, first the tryptophanrich basic protein (WRB) was found to be the mammalian homologue of Get1 and to be part of the membrane receptor for TRC40 (Vilardi et al. 2011). Based on bioinformatic analysis, however, no mammalian homologue was found for Get2. Nonetheless, a physical interaction assay, using TRC40 as bait, allowed the identification of CAML (calcium modulating cyclophilin ligand) as both a TRC40 and WRB interactor (Yamamoto and Sakisaka 2012). The authors showed that CAML binds TRC40 through a long cytosolic N-terminal domain (much as the interaction between Get2 and Get3) and interacts with WRB through the TMDs (again, like the yeast Get1/Get2 complex). Subsequent studies, demonstrated that the CAML/WRB complex was able to restore TA protein insertion competence both in  $\Delta$ Get1/Get2 yeast cells (Vilardi et al. 2014) and in reconstituted proteoliposomes (Colombo et al. 2016), confirming the functional homology between CAML and Get2. The exact mechanisms by which the WRB/CAML protein interacts with TRC40 and mediates TA protein insertion and how similar these processes are to what is observed in yeast is still poorly understood.

A recent study that tried to further characterize the WRB/CAML complex and its regulation (Colombo et al. 2016) will be discussed in more depth in a following section.

#### 1.3.3.1 CAML

Before being found to be an essential component of the TRC40 pathway (Yamamoto and Sakisaka 2012), CAML had been the focus of much attention, being found to interact with numerous proteins. CAML is a ubiquitously expressed, ER-resident membrane protein with three putative transmembrane domains located in its C-terminal region and a long cytosolic N-terminal arm.

First discovered in 1994 by Richard Bram (Bram and Crabtree 1994) in a screen for cyclophilin B-binding proteins, CAML was described as being a participant in the calcium-signal transduction pathway, acting downstream of the T-cell receptor (TCR) and upstream of calcineurin by causing an influx of calcium. This action was suggested to be modulated by CAML's TMDs (Holloway and Bram 1996).

CAML was also found to interact with a member of the tumour necrosis factor receptor superfamily, inducing activation of the calcium-dependent transcription factor NF-AT in Jurkat T cells (von Bulow and Bram 1997).

It was later suggested that CAML associates directly with the kinase domain of the EGFR (epidermal growth factor receptor), indicating a potential role of CAML in receptor recycling during long-term proliferative responses to EGF (Tran et al. 2003).

Also, GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors were seen to interact with CAML, more precisely, the  $\gamma_2$  subunit of the GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors. This interaction was proposed to be important for the functional expression and endocytic recycling of GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors (Yuan et al. 2008).

These are only some examples of the interactions and cellular process in which CAML has been found to take part, implying the importance of CAML for cellular homeostasis. It is a highly-conserved protein among vertebrates and is ubiquitously expressed. Moreover, CAML total knockout is lethal for mice embryos while mouse embryonic stem cells from CAML-knockout embryos grow without problems (Tran et al. 2003). To be noted, no homologues have been identified in non-vertebrate metazoans or in plants.

Presently, it is still uncertain if the many processes in which a role for CAML has been implied is but a side effect of CAML being a component of the TRC40 pathway or if, instead, CAML has other functions besides being a part of the TRC40 receptor. A recent work points to the latter as being the most plausible answer, revealing an essential role for CAML in supporting survival and mitotic progression in Myc-driven lymphomas, independent of TA protein insertion function (Shing et al. 2017). It remains to be understood if CAML in complex with WRB or WRB-free CAML may be responsible for these various functions reported for CAML.

#### 1.3.3.2 WRB

WRB, also known as CHD5 (congenital heart disease 5 protein), is expressed from a gene located on chromosome 21 in a region thought to be responsible for CHD in Down syndrome (DS) (Egeo et al. 1998). WRB is an ER membrane protein, ubiquitously expressed, that has three transmembrane domains and a coiled-coil, cytoplasmic domain between the first and second TMDs. Recently it was shown that DS fetal fibroblasts presented an increased expression of WRB protein (Colombo et al. 2016), however the link between the higher expression of WRB and CHD occurrence in DS patients remains unclear.

Differently from CAML, WRB is conserved throughout the eukaryotic domain of life. Different animal models showed that a reduced expression or a complete knock down of WRB led to defects in cardiac development and morphology (Murata et al. 2009; Sojka et al. 2014). Other works, have implied WRB to be essential for the formation of synaptic structures in photoreceptors and inner ear cells (Daniele et al. 2016; Lin et al. 2016).

It is still uncertain if the role WRB in these pathologies and cellular processes is related to its essential role in the TRC40 pathway or not.

#### 1.3.4 Regulation of CAML/WRB

Recently, Colombo and colleagues set out to fill the gap of knowledge that remained, concerning the function and reciprocal interactions of CAML and WRB as the two subunits of the TRC40 receptor, compared to the extensive understanding of the yeast GET system (Colombo et al. 2016).

Using a series of functional, in-vitro assays, they were able to demonstrate that both WRB and CAML are essential for TRC40-dependent TA protein insertion in microsomal extracts and that they were sufficient to confer insertion competence to liposomes. Furthermore, it was demonstrated that CAML and WRB indeed physically interact and that immune-depletion of CAML from microsomal extracts, also depletes WRB and renders the microsomal extract incompetent for insertion.

Then, using a strategy based on the application of recombinant proteins for the creation of standard curves, the authors quantified the absolute amount of CAML and WRB in rat liver microsomes and in a human neuroblastoma cell line, finding CAML to be in large molar excess over WRB (4-fold in microsomes and 7-fold in neuroblastoma cells). They also saw that, in-vitro, the excess of CAML does not interfere with TA protein insertion.

Since the WRB gene is present in the distal region of the long arm of chromosome 21 (Hsa21), which is a region considered to play a critical role in the DS phenotype, the authors used a similar strategy to quantify the absolute amounts of CAML and WRB in DS and control fetal fibroblasts. They found an increase in WRB, both at the protein and the transcript levels, in line with a previously reported 1.5-fold upregulation of Hsa21 transcripts (Prandini et al. 2007). Additionally, they again saw that an imbalance in WRB/CAML protein levels did not impair TA protein insertion.

In yeast, it had been seen that the deletion of each one of the subunits resulted in at least a partial loss of the second subunit (Mariappan et al. 2011) in agreement with the concept of quality control (see Section 1.2.2). Thus, to understand if a similar effect was observed in mammalian cells, the authors silenced each one of the subunits in HeLa cells, using RNA interference. They saw that indeed, also in mammalian cells, the depletion of one subunit led to a parallel depletion of the second one (Fig. 1.4-A; B). Subsequently, to investigate at which step the expression of each subunit was influenced by the other, they analysed the relative transcript levels after silencing, surprisingly finding that upon CAML silencing, the levels of WRB transcript were greatly reduced, while the silencing of WRB did not seem to have such a strong effect on the levels of CAML transcript (Fig. 1.4-C; D). Furthermore, the authors showed that the reduction in WRB transcript following CAML silencing was caused by its destabilization (Fig. 1.4-E). The strong effect of WRB silencing on CAML protein and the very mild effect on transcript levels were instead in line with results obtained from a conditional knockout mouse for WRB, which has reduced levels of CAML protein but not alterations in CAML transcript (Rivera-Monroy et al. 2016).

The destabilization effect of CAML silencing on WRB transcript and the causes for the reduced protein levels upon partner silencing are still to be better elucidated. The investigation of these regulatory mechanism will be the main focus of the present work. The last chapter of this introduction is dedicated to mechanisms of post-transcriptional regulation, in order to provide a background for my studies on the regulation of the WRB transcript.



**Fig. 1.1** - Effect of the silencing of the TRC40 receptor subunits on each other. The silencing of CAML leads to the reduction of WRB protein (A) and transcript (B) levels, by destabilizing its transcript (E). The silencing or WRB leads to the depletion of CAML protein (B) and a small reduction of its mRNA levels (D). Adapted from (Colombo et al. 2016).

## 1.4 Post-transcriptional regulation

From the moment it is transcribed, RNA passes through several steps of maturation and regulation until and while it is finally translated into protein. These steps include RNA splicing, transport, stability, localization and translation, which ultimately determine the amount and subcellular localization of the translated protein, thus impacting the cellular response to stimuli and stress. The multitude of regulatory mechanisms of mRNA fate can be appreciated in Fig. 1.5.

RNA regulation factors can be divided in two major categories, RNA-binding proteins (RBP) and non-coding RNA. Right from when transcription initiates, these factors dynamically bind the RNA forming the messenger ribonucleoprotein particle (mRNP). Most RNA regulation factors, are targeted to structures or sequences that are mRNA specific; these recognition elements are commonly present in the untranslated regions (UTR) of mRNA, at the 5' and 3' ends of the transcript. It is the unique combination of factors accompanying each mRNA, as well as their relative position along the transcript, that dictates the fate of every mRNA (Moore 2005).

Eukaryotic RNA, immediately after transcription is referred to as precursormRNA (pre-mRNA), which then needs to be processed to become functional mRNA. The first post-transcriptional modification to which pre-mRNAs are subjected is 5'capping. This consists of the addition to the 5' end of the pre-mRNA of a 7-methylguanosine through a 5'-5'-triphosphate linkage. The 5'cap is important for several aspects of mRNA fate. It serves to protect mRNAs from exonuclease 5'-to-3' degradation, both in the nucleus and the cytoplasm (Stevens and Poole 1995; Jinek et al. 2011). It is also necessary for efficient translation, serving as a binding site for various eukaryotic initiation factors (eIFs) and promoting the assembly of the pre-initiation complex (Jackson et al. 2010).

Another step in mRNA maturation is intron removal and exon splicing. Splicing is performed by the spliceosome and can result in alternative splicing, giving rise to different mature mRNAs. The exon-exon junctions resulting from splicing are bound by the exon junction complex (EJC), a protein complex that can either positively influence translation when it is bound in the open reading frame (ORF) or target the bound mRNA for rapid destruction via nonsense-mediated mRNA decay (NMD) when bound to the mRNA 3'UTR (Tange et al. 2004). The last mRNA modification during maturation is polyadenylation. In this process, the pre-mRNA is first cleaved between the highly conserved AAUAAA sequence and a degenerate U/GU rich sequence, after which the poly(A) polymerase adds a 3' poly(A) tail of ~200 nucleotides (Minvielle-Sebastia and Keller 1999). Polyadenylation can take place in different sites of the mRNA, creating multiple mRNA isoforms by alternative polyadenylation. The poly(A) tail provides the mRNA with a binding site for poly(A) binding proteins (PABP), a class of regulatory proteins that influence mRNA export, stability and decay, and translation (Mangus et al. 2003).



**Fig. 1.2** - Representation of the various layers of post-transcriptional regulation that dictate the fate of mRNAs (Glisovic et al. 2008).

During and after mRNA maturation, several regulatory factors bind to mRNA, promoting its transport across the nuclear pore complex and into the cytoplasm and then promoting interaction with the translation machinery. As it is transiting the pore or soon after reaching the cytosol, a change in mRNP composition takes place, with some nuclear export proteins detaching from the mRNA and a concomitant engagement of the translation machinery. Some mRNAs have even been seen to associate with multiple ribosomes while still transiting the nuclear pore (Moore 2005).

Interestingly, a model has been proposed - thoroughly reviewed by Keene (2007) – that eukaryotes may present an operon-like regulation mechanism, where multiple mRNAs coding either for interacting or co-localized proteins can be bound together by a common RBP that is responsible for the physical proximity of the various transcripts, allowing a co-regulation of those mRNAs. This could for example be favourable for the assembly of multi-subunit protein complexes, recreating the simpler situation observed in prokaryotes, where these complexes are expressed in polycistronic mRNAs (see Section 1.2.1 and Fig. 1.1).

Translation of mRNA is controlled by a number of factors, including a network of simultaneous interactions between the 5'cap and eIFs present in the 5' UTR and the PABPs in the poly(A) tail of the 3'UTR. Two of the most well studied examples of modulation of translational efficiency are the internal ribosomal entry sites (IRES) and upstream ORFs (uORFs). IRES are mRNA regulatory motifs that facilitate a capindependent mechanism of translation initiation, in which the ribosome binds to an internal site close to the translation initiation site (Filbin et al. 2009). IRES promote the recruitment of ribosomes and continued translation of essential proteins under conditions when cap-dependent translation is inhibited by stress, cell-cycle stage or apoptosis.

An uORFs is a 5'UTR regulatory mechanism. It occurs when an AUG is present in the 5'UTR, upstream to the main start codon, with an in-frame stop codon. In mRNAs that contain uORFs, the translational machinery may translate the uORF, altering the efficiency of translation of the main ORF, potentially causing great reductions in protein expression levels (Meijer and Thomas 2002). It has also been proposed that uORFs may relate to NMD, implying that the mechanism of uORF reduction of translation of the main ORF is more complex than previously thought (Mendell et al. 2004).

If the 5'UTR mostly carries motifs important for the regulation of translation, the 3'UTR can be seen as a regulatory hub, responsible for regulation of numerous processes including transcript cleavage, stability, degradation, polyadenylation, translation and mRNA localisation (Barrett et al. 2012). The 3'UTRs have the sequence targets for miRNAs, small non-coding RNAs that interact with their targets to regulate the expression. They also carry binding motifs for several RBPs, of which one of the most well-studied examples are the AU-rich elements (ARE). AREs are described as
stabilisation elements ranging from 50-150 bp and generally containing multiple copies of the pentanucleotide AUUUA (Chen and Shyu 1995). Different RBPs, or a RBP subjected to different stimuli, can bind AREs and result in different outcomes for the bound mRNA (Barrett et al. 2012).

Another important step in the life cycle of mRNA is degradation. This is true both for the degradation of aberrant mRNAs and for degradation during natural mRNA turnover. As commented in a previous section (see Section 1.2.2) regarding proteins, also for mRNA, the accumulation of defective mRNAs can have deleterious impacts on the cell by resulting in the translation of inappropriately terminated proteins. Moreover, when a protein is no longer needed, the transcript present in the cell must be degraded to stop expression. The degradation mechanisms are known to be intimately connected with translation and are regulation by a complex network of RBPs, including those that are responsible for the translation initiation itself. During natural transcript turnover, the mRNA is deadenylated and then can either be degraded 3' to 5' by the exosome or, more commonly, undergo decapping followed by 5' to 3' exonuclease degradation. Different quality control pathways exist for the degradation of aberrant mRNAs, these pathways are usually induced after the first round of translation: transcripts containing a premature stop signal undergo NMD which leads to deadenylation-independent decapping and, in metazoans, endonuclease cleavage; transcripts that lack a termination codon altogether are degraded via non-stop decay resulting in 3' to 5' exonucleolytic decay; and mRNAs that present strong stalling in translation elongation can be cleaved by endonuclease activity (reviewed in Wilusz et al. 2001; Shoemaker and Green 2012).

In eukaryotic cells, when translation is finished, polysomes are disassembled and non-translating mRNPs are targeted to specialized, non-membrane cellular compartments for storage or degradation. These compartments are composed of nontranslating mRNPs and can either have several mRNA decay factors or translation initiation factors. Due to their composition, there has been much discussion as to the classification and function of these compartments, but the current status is that three kinds of compartments can exist, based on protein and mRNA composition, and genesis: processing bodies (P-bodies), GW-bodies and stress granules (Anderson and Kedersha 2006; Decker and Parker 2012; Patel et al. 2016). P-bodies in yeast were initially also called GW-bodies in higher eukaryotes due to the presence of Gw/GW182, a protein that is not

conserved in yeast. For long, these were thought to be the same homologous entity, however, recent evidence proposes a composition and function-based divergence, suggesting that both compartments can exist in higher eukaryotes. Both have been seen to be composed of translation repressor and several mRNA degradation factors such as exonucleases, decapping and deadenylation factors and modulators, among others. Supporters of the diverging model point out the presence of Gw/GW182 as a determinant factor for the GW-body as an entity on its own, because of its ability to recruit Ago-1 - a member of the microRNA-induced silencing complex (RISC) - and consequently the recruitment of RISC-targeted RNAs, implying an additional function of GW-bodies in miRNA-mediated silencing (Patel et al. 2016). Moreover, while P-bodies are thought to never associate with membranes, GW-bodies have been reported to interact with endolysosomal compartments and even to be secreted in exosome-like vesicles (Gibbings et al. 2009). Stress granules, on the other hand, are formed under stress conditions or when translation is artificially blocked. When cells are subjected to stress, the translation, especially of housekeeping genes, is shut down, while genes important for the stress response and for the adaptation of the cell to the new environment are upregulated; these include chaperones, and enzymes responsible for damage repair. In this process, stalled transcripts aggregate forming complexes containing several translation initiation factors, the small ribosomal subunit and several other RBPs. Transcripts can shuttle between Pbodies and stress granules, maybe undergoing degradation in the former, and being stored for future use in the latter; indeed, when the stress disappears or the cells adapt to the stress, these transcripts can return to the cytoplasm, resuming translation (Anderson and Kedersha 2006; Protter and Parker 2016).

It must be noted that the relationship between mRNA degradation pathways and P-body formation has been recently cast into doubt (Hubstenberger et al. 2017), and further work should address the real contribution of P-bodies for mRNA degradation and storage.

Here are described only some of the numerous layers of post-transcriptional regulation of mRNAs, to show the diversity of mechanisms by which different transcripts can be independently or co-regulated. The fundamental objective of these incredibly complex regulatory networks is efficient and localized protein translation and mRNA turnover.

# AIM OF THE THESIS

Protein complexes represent a significant portion of the cellular targets of drugs. To be able to discover and design new and improved compounds for pharmacological therapies, one must better understand the very essence of the targeted receptors, including the molecular and cellular mechanisms that govern not only their response to the substance being used but also their biogenesis, assembly, subcellular localization and stability.

In the last decades, a great deal has been learned about proteins and protein structures. The application of multiple biophysical techniques, including X-ray crystallography, NMR and cryo-electron microscopy (2017 Nobel prize for chemistry), has allowed the determination of an ever-growing number of protein structures, including those of oligomeric protein complexes. This has led also to the determination of the interactions between subunits and the structural changes they undergo when forming a complex. Nevertheless, the regulatory mechanisms that govern the assembly of a multi-subunit protein complex, including spatio-temporal relations with the process of their translation on ribosomes, remain rather poorly understood.

In this work, as example of an oligomeric protein complex, we studied the regulation of the synthesis and assembly of the TRC40 receptor. The TRC40 receptor, a heterodimer composed of the WRB and CAML subunits, is responsible for the post-translational insertion of tail-anchored proteins into the ER membrane. It was recently found that this heteromeric receptor presents an inter-subunit transcript-protein cross-talk that could be important for the expression and assembly of the final complex. Thus, we intend to study this receptor expression, with the aim of understanding how the regulation of the expression of each subunit could be modulated by the second one. Our findings could be important in describing a new system for the co-regulation of the expression of the subunits of a protein complex.

# 3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

# 3.1 Cell culture and manipulation

#### 3.1.1 Cells

HeLa cells were the first immortalised human cells, derived from a human epidermoid carcinoma of the cervix in 1951 (Scherer et al. 1953). Since then, the use of this epithelial cell line as cell model became widely spread, due to their resistance and to the easiness in their handling. In this work, these cells were the model chosen to study the regulation of the expression of the WRB/CAML complex; they were used for steady-state analysis of transcripts and proteins, as well as for gene overexpression and silencing experiments.

HeLa cells were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM, Invitrogen) supplemented with 10 % (v/v) of heat-inactivated Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS, Carlo Erba), 1% (v/v) penicillin/streptomycin antibiotic mix (P/S, Invitrogen) and 1% (v/v) L-glutamine (Invitrogen). Cells were kept at 37 °C and 5 % CO<sub>2</sub> in a humidified incubator and routinely subcultured when optimal confluence was reached.

#### 3.1.2 Transcription inhibition

For studies on transcript stability, transcription was inhibited using 5,6-dichloro-1- $\beta$ -<sub>D</sub>-ribofuranosylbenzimidazole (DRB, Sigma). DRB inhibits transcription by inhibiting transcription elongation by RNA polymerase II (Sehgal et al. 1976; Dubois et al. 1994). Transcript stability was studied by inhibiting transcription for different time periods and analysing the mRNA levels at each time point.

For this, cells were seeded at ~35% confluency in 28 cm<sup>2</sup> culture dishes, one culture dish for each of the seven time points (t = 0; 0.5; 1; 2; 4; 6 and 8 hours). The next day, the cells from t = 0 were washed twice with Phosphate-buffered Saline (PBS – 137 mM NaCl; 2.7 mM KCl; 10 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>; 1.8 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>) for removal of serum proteins and then harvested for RNA extraction by scraping in PBS. The cells were then transferred into a tube and pelleted by centrifugation at 850 g for 10 minutes at 4 °C. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet was frozen in liquid nitrogen and kept at -80 °C until use. Meanwhile, the medium of the cells of each of the other time points, was collected together and DRB was added (60  $\mu$ M). The medium containing DRB was then divided by

the various culture dishes and the cells were incubated for the indicated times. At the end of incubation, cells were harvested and frozen as described above.

For the study of CAML transcript stability upon WRB silencing, three 3.8 cm<sup>2</sup> wells with HeLa cells were silenced for each DRB time point, and DRB treatment was initiated ~68h after WRB silencing. After incubation, cells from the three wells were harvested together in the same tube, as above.

#### 3.1.3 Transfection

Different transfection methods are available for the insertion of external nucleic acids into cells. In this work chemical transfection was used, taking advantage of two different transfection reagents, for the introduction of either plasmid DNA for transient gene overexpression or small interfering RNA (siRNA) for gene silencing.

#### 3.1.3.1 Gene silencing

Silencing of WRB or CAML was achieved by RNA interference. In this technique, the mRNA of a gene is degraded or its translation is blocked, in each case preventing the expression of the gene. In this work, RNA interference was performed using siRNAs, which are small double stranded RNAs, typically ranging from 20-25 nucleotides that are designed to specifically target the gene intended to be silenced. When introduced in the cell, one of the single stranded RNA fragments is loaded into the RISC complex activating it. The siRNA is then used by RISC to scan the mRNAs in the cell until the target is found and the Argonaute protein, one of the RISC components proceeds with the target mRNA degradation. The siRNAs (Invitrogen) used in this work are listed in Table 3.1. In each silencing experiment, a parallel sample is treated with a scramble siRNA (siSCR), that does not target any known human gene, as control.

The siRNAs were delivered to the cell using the Lipofectamine<sup>™</sup> RNAiMAX transfection reagent (Invitrogen).

For silencing experiments, HeLa cells were seeded 24 h prior to the silencing at ~8% confluency in an antibiotic-free DMEM in 12-well plates, the day after, before silencing, fresh medium was added to the cells.

For CAML silencing, 10 pmol of siCAML or of siSCR was diluted in a tube with opti-MEM I Reduced Serum Media (opti-MEM, Gibco) in a final volume of 100  $\mu$ L and 1  $\mu$ L of Lipofectamine RNAiMAX was diluted with opti-MEM in a second tube in a final volume of 100  $\mu$ L. The two dilutions were gently mixed and spun before adding the siRNA dilution to the Lipofectamine tube. After this, the reaction was mixed gently, spun and incubated for 20 minutes at room temperature to allow for complex formation. After incubation, complexes were gently added to the cells in a drop-wise manner. Cells were incubated with the complexes at 37 °C and 5 % CO<sub>2</sub>. After 6h of incubation the medium was substituted with antibiotic supplemented DMEM and the cells were allowed to grow for 48h before being harvested for western-blot analysis or subjected to additional treatment.

Cells intended for SDS-PAGE and western blot analysis were washed twice with PBS for removal of serum proteins and harvested by direct lysis with hot Lysis Buffer (1% [w/v] SDS; 10 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.6; 1 mM PMSF; protease inhibitor cocktail [PIC]) and proteins were further denatured with the addition of 0.5 volumes of Denaturation Buffer (DB) 3X (3 %  $\beta$ -Mercaptoethanol; 25.5 % glycerol; 6% SDS; 60 mM Tris-HCl pH 6.8; 0.03 % Bromophenol blue). Samples were then boiled for 2 minutes at 100 °C and either used immediately or stored at -20 °C until use.

For WRB silencing, the same procedure was followed with a few changes. 10 pmol of siWRB or siSCR were mixed with 2  $\mu$ L of Lipofectamine RNAiMAX and, after addition of complexes, cells were grown for 68-72h before being harvested for western-blot analysis as described above or being subjected to additional treatment.

The efficiency of silencing was analysed as a function of protein or transcript level in silenced cells relative to cells treated with siSCR.

Oligo	Sequence (5'-3')	
Primer 1	ttaagcttggcgcttggcttcaccg	
Primer 2	cttaatgtttttggcatcttcc	
Primer 3	gctctagagctgaacaggaggatggata	
Primer 4	gctctagaagtgagaaaattcagctttactggg	
Primer 5	gtctagagcactgttttgttttttaaga	
Primer 6	gctctagatggaatttttagtagtgg	
Primer 7	gcgagcacagaattaatacgact	
Primer 8	cagccgcgaggctaaaaaac	
Primer 9	cgcggatccaattaatacgactcactatagg	
Oligo 1	agcttgggtggggcgcttggcttcaccgcgcaggcgcggtcgccgctgttgttgtggtccccat	
	ggagctgccgtagcggacccagcacagccaggagcgtccgggccca	
Oligo 2	agcttgggcccggacgctcctggctgtgctgggtccgctacggcagctccatggggaccacaacaa	
	cagcggcgaccgcgcctgcgcggtgaagccaagcgccccaccca	
Oligo 3	agcttgggtggggcgcttggcttcaccgcgcaggcgcggtcgccgctgttgttgtggtccccGtCgag	
	ctgccgtagcggacccagcacagccaggagcgtccgggccca	
Oligo 4	agcttgggcccggacgctcctggctgtgctgggtccgctacggcagctcGaCggggaccacaaca	
	acagcggcgaccgcgcctgcgcggtgaagccaagcgccccaccca	
siCAML	gcgcggaagaagaaagucatt	
siWRB	ggguaguaagugucgcuuutt	

 Table 3.1 - Oligonucleotides used in this study. See text for details.

#### 3.1.3.2 Transient gene overexpression

Transient gene overexpression was carried out with the use of the jetPEI transfection reagent (Polyplus transfection). jetPEI is a polyethylenimine polymer able to create very stable, positively charged, complexes with DNA.

Transient transfections where used to study the expression of WRB-HA and FLAGCAML in CAML and WRB silenced cells, respectively.

Transfection of WRB-HA or FLAGCAML, was carried out after silencing of CAML (48h) or WRB (72h), respectively in 12-well plates. Before transfection, fresh medium was added to the cells. To control for transfection efficiency, pEGFPN1 was co-transfected with WRB-HA and FLAGCAML.

For the preparation of complexes, 1  $\mu$ g of either pRK5rs-WRB-HA or pCLX31.1-FLAGhCAML and 0.5  $\mu$ g of pEGFPN1 were diluted in a tube containing 150 mM NaCl in a final volume of 50  $\mu$ L and 4.5  $\mu$ L of jetPEI were diluted in a second tube in 150 mM NaCl in a final volume of 50  $\mu$ L. The two dilutions were vortexed and spun before adding the jetPEI dilution to the tube containing the DNA. The mixture was then vortexed, spun and incubated for 20 minutes at room temperature, to allow for the formation of complexes. After incubation, the complexes were gently added to cells in a drop-wise manner. Cells were allowed to grow in the presence of the complexes for 24h, before being harvested for western-blot analysis as described (see Section 3.1.3.1).

Luciferase constructs carrying WRB UTRs were transfected in either non-silenced or CAML silenced cells to investigate the effect of CAML on luciferase expression by each of WRB UTRs. Each of the pTKpGL4.11 constructs were co-transfected with the phRG-B plasmid, which encodes the *Renilla* luciferase and was used for transfection efficiency normalization.

In these experiments, 100 ng of phRG-B was co-transfected with a 5-fold molar excess of pTKpGL4.11 based plasmids, using 2.55  $\mu$ L of jetPEI for complex formation. For preparation of complexes, the same procedure was used as above. Luciferase activity was measured 24h after transfection.

Cells intended for analysis with the Dual Luciferase Assay were washed twice with PBS before being detached by incubation with PBS with 1 mM EDTA at 37 °C for 5 minutes. Cells were then harvested and transferred into a tube and pelleted by centrifugation at 850 g for 10 minutes at room temperature. Residual EDTA was eliminated from the pellet by addition of PBS followed by another centrifugation. Cells were then lysed in 1X Passive Lysis Buffer (PLB) as part of the Dual Luciferase Reporter Assay System (Promega) manufacturer's protocol.

# 3.2 Molecular biology techniques

#### 3.2.1 Construct preparation

The basic molecular biology techniques applied in this work for the preparation of constructs were performed according to the Current Protocols of Molecular Biology (Ausubel et al. 2001), for the exception of when commercially available kits were used following manufacturer's protocols.

#### 3.2.1.1 Polymerase Chain Reaction

Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) is a technique that allows for the very specific amplification of a fragment of DNA. It is based on the process of DNA replication, which consists in repeated cycles of denaturation and replication of a DNA template, in which a Polymerase produces a complementary copy of a single stranded DNA sequence, if guided by the presence of a primer that first anneals to the template sequence.

In this study, mainly two different commercially available DNA polymerases were used. The GoTaq<sup>®</sup> DNA Polymerase (Promega) was used for standard control PCRs and the Expand<sup>™</sup> High Fidelity PCR System (Roche) that exhibits proofreading activity was used for the amplification of sequences intended for subsequent cloning into expression vectors. Both enzymes were used following the manufacturer's protocols, calibrating the annealing temperature according to the primer pair being used. The various primers used for the preparation of the constructs used in this work are described in (Table 3.1). PCRs were performed in a PTC-100 thermal cycler (Bio-Rad).

#### 3.2.1.2 Restriction Enzyme Digestion

For this study, restriction enzymes where used both in the cloning of determined DNA sequences into expression vectors and to control that the cloning was successful.

Generally, in 20-50  $\mu$ L reaction volumes, 0.2-2  $\mu$ g of DNA was mixed, never exceeding 0.1  $\mu$ g/ $\mu$ L of DNA concentration, with water, 1X of the recommend buffer for the enzyme being used and a 5-fold excess of enzyme over DNA quantity (U/ $\mu$ g). Reactions were carried for 2 h at 37 °C. When digesting plasmids for subsequent insertion of DNA fragments, at the end of the incubation, 1U of Thermosensitive Alkaline Phosphatase (TSAP) (Promega) was added per  $\mu$ g of DNA for 30 minutes at 37 °C for the removal of phosphate groups from 5' ends. The phosphatase was then inactivated by incubating the sample at 74 °C for 15 minutes.

After digestion, a fraction of the sample was controlled by electrophoresis on an agarose gel.

#### 3.2.1.3 Agarose gel electrophoresis

Agarose gel electrophoresis is the most utilized technique to separate, identify and purify DNA fragments based on their length. To visualize the fragments, usually an intercalating fluorescence probe, e.g. Ethidium Bromide (EtBr), is used.

For this work, 0.8-2 % agarose gels were prepared in Tris-acetate buffer (TAE – 40 mM Tris acetate; 2 mM EDTA) with 0.5  $\mu$ g/mL of EtBr. Fluorescence from EtBr was detected using a UV transilluminator (UVITEC) and images of the gels were acquired using a UVIsafe HD5 imaging system (UVITEC).

#### 3.2.1.4 Purification of DNA fragments

DNA fragments, intended for subsequent insertion into expression vectors, resulting either from PCR amplification or from digestion from other plasmids, were purified, prior to the ligation step, for removal of enzymes, buffers and other unwanted DNA fragments. Purification was carried by binding of DNA fragments to silica membranes followed by removal of contaminants and subsequent elution of purified DNA from the membranes. In this work, the NucleoSpin<sup>®</sup> Gel and PCR Clean-up Kit (Macherey-Nagel) was used, following the manufacturer's protocol, to purify DNA fragments either directly from PCR samples or after separation by agarose gel electrophoresis.

#### 3.2.1.5 Ligation of DNA fragments to plasmid vectors

When cloning a DNA fragment into a plasmid vector, the fragment is ligated to the plasmid using a DNA ligase, which is an enzyme that can catalyse the formation of a phosphodiester bond between two DNA strands. This ligation happens between two fragments that have either sticky, complementary ends or blunt ends.

In this work, the T4 DNA Ligase (Invitrogen) was used. Briefly, in a 20  $\mu$ L reaction volume, 30 ng of linearized vector were mixed with a 10-fold molar excess of the fragment to be inserted, 2  $\mu$ L of 10X Ligase buffer and 1 U of T4 DNA ligase. The reaction was then incubated in a water bath at 16 °C overnight. The resulting ligation product was then transformed into competent *E. coli*.

#### 3.2.1.6 TA-cloning

The DNA polymerases used in this work produce an amplicon that presents single 3' adenine overhangs. To allow for direct cloning of these DNA fragments, the TOPO<sup>®</sup> TA cloning<sup>®</sup> Kit (Invitrogen) was used. This kit uses a strategy based on the utilization of a topoisomerase that catalyses the ligation between the PCR product adenine overhangs and the previously linearized pCRII-TOPO thymidine overhangs. The newly formed plasmids can then be transformed into competent bacteria

The resulting plasmids were either used to sequence the PCR product or to facilitate restriction digestion of restriction sites flanking the amplicon for subsequent sub-cloning into an expression vector.

#### 3.2.1.7 Preparation of competent bacteria

In order to allow the transformation of *E. coli* with plasmid DNA, these must be rendered competent. This can be achieved by treating the bacteria with a divalent cation - usually Ca<sup>2+</sup> - solution. The divalent cation, neutralizes the negative charges of the DNA and helps permeabilize the bacterial wall, allowing the DNA to enter the bacteria. In this work, the DH5 $\alpha$  strain of *E. coli* was used. To turn it competent, a bacterial colony grown in an antibiotic free lysogeny broth (LB) agar plate (1.5 % [w/v] Agar; 1 % [w/v] Tryptone; 0.5 % [w/v] Yeast extract; 1 % [w/v] NaCl; pH 7) overnight was inoculated into 100 mL of Super Optimal Broth (SOB) medium (2 % [w/v] tryptone; 0.5 % [w/v] Yeast extract; 0.05 % [w/v] NaCl; 2.5 mM KCl; pH 7.2) with 20 mM MgSO<sub>4</sub> and bacteria was grown at 37 °C under strong agitation until mid-log phase (OD<sub>600</sub> ~ 0.1). After this, the suspension was incubated on ice for 10 minutes before being centrifuged at 3220 g for 10 minutes at

4 °C. Then, the pellet was carefully resuspended in 40 mL of ice-cold Frozen Storage Buffer (FSB - 45 mM MnCl<sub>2</sub>; 10 mM CaCl2; 100 mM KCl; 3 mM Hexaamminecobalt (III) chloride; 10 mM Potassium acetate, pH 7.5; 10 % [w/v] glycerol; pH 6.4) and incubated on ice for 10 minutes before being centrifuged again at 3220 g for 10 minutes at 4°C. The pellet was resuspended in 8 mL FSB, and 140  $\mu$ L of DMSO were added for cryopreservation. The suspension was incubated on ice for 15 minutes and then another 140  $\mu$ L of DMSO were added. After this, aliquots of competent bacteria were fast-frozen in liquid nitrogen. The competent bacteria were kept at -80 °C until needed for transformation.

#### 3.2.1.8 Transformation of plasmid DNA into competent bacteria

For the transformation of bacteria with plasmid DNA, cells are subjected to a heatshock treatment, that helps the DNA enter the bacteria. Plasmid DNAs confer to the bacteria a resistance for a determined antibiotic, which is then added to the growth media, allowing for selective growth of only transformed bacteria.

Briefly, 1 ng of plasmid DNA, 10  $\mu$ L of ligation product or 6  $\mu$ L of TA-cloning product, were mixed with 100  $\mu$ L of Competent DH5 $\alpha$  *E. coli* and kept on ice for 30 minutes. The mixture was then placed in a water bath at 42 °C for 90 seconds and then placed back to ice for 1 minute. At this point, 900  $\mu$ L of LB medium was added to the transformed bacteria and the suspension was kept for 1 hour at 37 °C under agitation. After this, 100  $\mu$ L of the suspension was spread onto a selective LB plate containing an appropriate antibiotic, when plasmid was being transformed. When a ligation or TAcloning product were being transformed, the bacterial suspension was centrifuged for 5 minutes at 1000g, then resuspended in a small volume of supernatant, so that the complete transformation sample could be spread onto the selective LB plate.

Plasmid DNA extracted from selected bacterial colonies grown after transformation, was analysed by electrophoresis, restriction digestion or PCR for assessment of overall quality of the plasmid and of insertion and orientation of inserted fragment in the case of ligation or TA-cloning products transformation.

#### 3.2.1.9 Plasmid DNA extraction from bacteria

After transformation, the transformed DH5 $\alpha$  *E. coli* were grown in a selective medium to amplify the DNA plasmid of interest either in a small of medium scale. The plasmid was then extracted and purified.

For small scale plasmid extraction, 2 mL of LB with an appropriate selective antibiotic (100 µg/mL) was inoculated with a bacterial colony grown overnight at 37 °C on a selective LB agar plate and bacteria was grown overnight at 37 °C under strong agitation. The following morning, 1.4 mL of the bacterial suspension was centrifuged for 5 minutes at 16560 g at 4 °C. The remaining bacteria were stored at -80 °C in a 40 % glycerol suspension. The pellet was then resuspended in 100 µL of resuspension buffer (50 mM Tris-HCL, pH 8.0; 10 mM EDTA; 100 µg/mL RNase A) and vortexed for complete resuspension. Then, bacteria were lysed by the addition 150 µL of alkaline lysis buffer (200 mM NaOH; 1 % SDS) and the contents were gently mixed by inverting the tube. After this, the lysate was neutralized by the addition of 150 µL of neutralization buffer (3 M potassium acetate, pH 5.5) and incubated 5 minutes on ice. The lysate was then cleared from genomic DNA by centrifugation at 16560 g for 5 minutes at 4 °C. The cleared lysate was then transferred to a new tube and plasmid DNA was precipitated by mixing with 800 µL 100 % (v/v) EtOH and centrifugation at 16560 g for 20 minutes at 4 °C. The DNA pellet was then washed with 500 µL of 70 % (v/v) EtOH followed by centrifugation at 16560 g for 10 minutes at 4 °C. The pellet was then allowed to dry and resuspended in 30 µl Tris-EDTA buffer (TE - 10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0; 1mM EDTA). The plasmid DNA extracted from small scale preparations was mostly used for analysis of ligation products by restriction digestion and in some cases for DNA sequencing.

Medium scale plasmid extraction was used when preparing plasmids for subsequent sub-cloning or for end-point applications, such as plasmid transfection. Medium scale preparations were performed on 100 mL bacterial suspensions grown overnight in the presence of an appropriate selective antibiotic, using the QIAGEN<sup>®</sup> Plasmid Midi Kit (Qiagen), following the manufacturer's protocol.

#### 3.2.1.10 Constructs

The constructs and primers used in this work are illustrated in Fig. 3.1 and Table 3.1, respectively.

pRK5rs-WRB-HA was a kind gift from Fabio Vilardi (University of Göttingen, Göttingen, Germany), and its preparation had been previously described elsewhere (Vilardi et al. 2011); it consists of the WRB coding sequence fused to a C-terminal HA tag. The pCLX31.1-FLAGhCAML, containing the CAML coding sequence fused to a N-terminal FLAG tag (Holloway and Bram 1996) had been provided by Richard Bram (Mayo Clinic, Rochester, USA).

pEGFN1 (Clontech) was available in the laboratory and codes for the enhanced Green Fluorescent Protein (eGFP).

The phRG-B and pTKpGL4.11 were kind gifts from Roberta Benfante (IN-CNR, Milan, Italy). phRG-B is a promoterless mammalian vector that encodes a humanized *Renilla* luciferase. pTKpGL4.11 encodes the firefly luciferase under the Thymidine Kinase (TK) promoter.

The constructs used to study the effect of WRB UTRs in expression were built on the pTKpGL4.11 backbone. The sequence of the WRB transcript deposited on NCBI database (NM-004627) was used as reference for the preparation of a synthetic oligonucleotide cassette containing the WRB 5'UTR sequence flanked by cohesive ends complementary to the HindIII restriction site (oligo 1 and oligo 2 in Table 3.1). Due to the presence of an ATG sequence in WRB 5'UTR, a second oligonucleotide cassette (oligo3 and oligo 4 in Table 3.1) was prepared, in which that ATG was changed into GTC; this cassette was called WRB 5'mutUTR. The pTKpGL4.11-WRB5'UTR and pTKpGL4.11-WRB5'mutUTR were prepared by inserting each one of the synthetic oligonucleotide cassettes into the HindIII restriction site of pTKpGL4.11, present upstream to the luciferase coding sequence. The insertion and correct orientation of the cassette in the plasmid was controlled by PCR, using primers 1 and 2; the amplification of a DNA fragment reported on the correct orientation.

The same WRB transcript sequence was used to design a primer pair, primers 3 and 4, that carried a 5'-end XbaI restriction site, to amplify WRB 3' UTR from cDNA retrotranscribed from HeLa cell RNA. The amplified WRB 3' UTR was first sub-cloned in a TA-cloning vector and sequenced. After confirmation that it was identical to the

deposited sequence, the WRB 3' UTR was excised from the TA-cloning vector using the XbaI flanking sites and then cloned into the pTKpGL4.11, pTKpGL4.11-WRB5'UTR and pTKpGL4.11-WRB5'mutUTR XbaI site, situated downstream to the luciferase coding sequence; the resulting constructs were called pTKpGL4.11-WRB3'UTR, pTKpGL4.11-WRB5'+3'UTR and pTKpGL4.11-WRB5'mut+3'UTR. The insertion and correct orientation of the WRB 3' UTR fragment was controlled by restriction digestion with SpeI: the presence of two closely migrating bands of ~3000bp was indicative of the correct orientation.

The "AREsless" construct, pTKpGL4.11-WRB3'UTR∆ARE, which has an internal portion of WRB 3' UTR without any of the three putative AREs, was prepared by amplifying the 3'RACE product B2 from the pCRII-TOPO vector using primers 5 and 6, both primers designed with 5' end XbaI restriction sites. Primer 5 was designed to be complementary to the antisense strand in a region downstream of a potential ARE site located in the 5' region of WRB 3' UTR. The amplification product was subcloned into the TA-cloning vector to be excised by XbaI restriction digestion. The excised fragment was then cloned into the XbaI site of pTKpGL4.11.

#### 3.2.2 RT-qPCR

Real-time or quantitative PCR (qPCR) is a PCR (see Section 3.2.1.1) based method that allows for the quantification of the initial template present in the reaction. In traditional PCR, the amplification product is analysed and quantified after the last cycle, without obtaining information on the initial template quantity. In qPCR, on the other hand, the amplification product is analysed at the end of each cycle. This is achieved by using fluorescent probes that give fluorescent signals proportional to the number of amplification molecules generated.

When combined with reverse-transcription (RT-qPCR), this technique allows to measure also the RNA levels in a sample, by first retrotranscribing the RNA into complementary DNA (cDNA) and then amplifying the resulting cDNA. By using probes that are designed to be highly specific for a gene transcript of interest, one can measure the mRNA levels of that gene in a biological sample. These probes have two different fluorescent molecules, one at each end of the probe. When in close proximity, one of the



Fig. 3.3 - Representation of the constructs used in this study. See Section 3.2.1.10 for details.

two molecules, the quencher, strongly supresses the fluorescence emission of the reporter dye in a physical phenomenon called fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET). When in solution or bound to the target, the two molecules are near and FRET occurs, quenching the fluorescence of the reporter dye. However, during PCR using a primer pair specific for the target, both primers and probe anneal to the target and then, when the target sequence is amplified, the taq polymerase 5' nuclease activity cleaves the probe separating the two molecules. When the two molecules are separated, FRET can no longer occur and the reporter dye emits a fluorescence signal. This approach is more specific because even if either the primers used or the probe present an off-target annealing, those off-targets will not be represented in the result, since for a sequence to be measured, a combination of both the primer and the probe annealing are needed.

In each case, after a certain number of amplification cycles, the fluorescence signal will increase sufficiently to be distinguishable from the background signal; this cycle is defined as the threshold cycle (C<sub>t</sub>). The C<sub>t</sub> is inversely proportional to the initial amount

of target, so it can be used to perform an absolute quantification of the number of template molecules present in the initial sample, by comparison with a standard curve composed of know amounts of target copies, or to perform a relative quantification between the template levels of two different samples.

The relative quantification between two samples is generally performed recurring to the  $\Delta\Delta C_t$  method. In this method, the  $C_t$  for the gene of interest is adjusted in relation to the  $C_t$  of a normalizer gene (usually a housekeeping gene) in each sample. Then, one of the samples is used as calibrator (e.g., the t0 of a treatment or the scramble control in silencing) and the difference is usually represented by a fold difference (2<sup>- $\Delta\Delta C_t$ </sup>).

In this work, RT-qPCR was used to measure the relative levels of CAML and WRB transcripts using GAPDH as normalizer between samples, and t=0 or scramble samples as calibrators in transcript stability or effect of silence on transcript level experiments, respectively.

#### 3.2.2.1 RNA extraction

RNA intended for reverse-transcription was extracted and purified from HeLa cells (prepared as described in Section 3.2.2) using the RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Qiashreder spin columns (Qiagen) and RNase-free DNase set (Qiagen) were used for lysate homogenization and complete removal of genomic DNA, respectively. The procedure yielded generally  $\sim$ 30 µg of RNA that was stored at -80 °C until use.

#### 3.2.2.2 Reverse-transcription

For the quantification of RNA using qPCR, an essential step is the reversetranscription of RNA into cDNA using a reverse transcriptase and a reverse transcription primer. Depending on the application, this can be achieved using different approaches, mainly by changing the kind of primer used. One can retrotranscribe total RNA using random hexamer primers, poly(A) RNA by using oligo(dT) primers, and specific RNAs using gene specific primers. Strategies for the reverse transcription of small non-coding RNAs such as miRNAs are also available. In this work, total RNA extracted from HeLa cells was retrotranscribed using Random Hexamers (Euroclone) and SuperScript IV Reverse Transcriptase (Invitrogen). Reactions were carried out in a PTC-100 thermal cycler (Bio-Rad). For each sample, 1.5 µg of RNA was retrotranscribed following the manufacturer's protocol. The newly synthesised cDNA was either used immediately for qPCR or stored at -20 °C for at most a few days.

#### <u>3.2.2.3 qPCR</u>

Real-time PCR was performed in a QuantStudio 5 System thermocycler (Applied Biosystems) using TaqMan Gene Expression Assays (Applied Biosystems) with FAM-MGB dyes containing a probe and a primer pair, specifically targeted to CAML, WRB or GAPDH (Assay IDs: Hs00266143\_m1; Hs00190294\_m1 and Hs99999905\_m1, respectively). The TaqMan Gene Expression Master Mix (Applied Biosystems) was used to provide the necessary reagents including the taq polymerase.

For each sample, 1  $\mu$ L of cDNA was mixed with 1  $\mu$ L of TaqMan Gene Expression Assay and 10  $\mu$ L of TaqMan Gene Expression Master Mix in a 96-well plate in a final volume of 20  $\mu$ L. Each amplification reaction was performed in triplicate and a nontemplate control, in which cDNA was replaced by water was done for each probe.

The amplification protocol was as follows: first a Hold Stage where samples were incubated at 50 °C for 2 minutes, followed by incubation at 95 °C for 10 minutes. Then, the PCR stage consisted of 40 cycles of an initial denaturation step of 15 seconds at 95 °C followed by a second elongation step of 1 minute at 60 °C.

Ct values were obtained using QuantStudio Design & Analysis Software (Life Technologies).

#### 3.2.3 Rapid Amplification of cDNA Ends

The amplification of the 3' UTR of a transcript, of which the 3' end is not known or which, could present multiple polyadenylation variants, is not possible by standard PCR amplification, since in these cases it is not possible to design a specific primer for the 3' end. Amplification can be achieved using the Rapid Amplification of cDNA Ends (RACE) method. 3' RACE takes advantage of the poly(A) tail present in mature mRNAs. In this procedure, mRNAs are reverse transcribed using an oligo-dT adapter primer that contains a poly(T) sequence followed by an adapter sequence. In this way, all polyadenylated mRNA is converted into cDNA. Then, this cDNA is used as template to amplify the target by PCR. In the first PCR, the sense primer is a gene specific primer while the antisense primer is designed to anneal with the sequence of the oligo-dT adapter. This PCR should yield the amplification of the target sequence. Often, however, to obtain more material or greater specificity, a second, nested PCR is needed. The amplification product can then be cloned as desired.

In this work, the FirstChoice RLM-RACE kit (Ambion) was used. Briefly, 1 µg of RNA extracted from HeLa cells was reversed transcribed using SuperScript IV Reverse Transcriptase and 3'RACE adapter for priming. The product of this reaction was then used as template for a first PCR using GoTaq<sup>®</sup> DNA Polymerase and primers 3 and 7 (see Table 3.1) for priming. The product of this reaction was then used as template for a second PCR using primers 8 and 9 (see Table 3.1) for priming.

The amplification products yielded in this procedure were then separated by agarose gel electrophoresis and purified, before being cloned into the pCRII-TOPO TAcloning vector and sequenced.

### 3.2.4 Dual-luciferase reporter assay

Genetic reporter systems are tools commonly used to study gene expression. Their applications range from the study of receptor activity, transcription factors, intracellular signaling, protein folding, to mRNA regulation.

The Dual-Luciferase Reporter Assay System (Promega) applied in this work uses the firefly and the *Renilla* luciferases, measuring the activities of both luciferases sequentially in the same sample.

In this work cells, co-transfected, harvested and lysed as described in Section 3.1.3.2 were analyzed in 96-well white bottom plates, with the Dual-Luciferase Reporter Assay System following the manufacturer's protocol in a GloMax Discover (Promega) luminometer.

# 3.3 Biochemical methods

#### 3.3.1 Immunoprecipitation and Co-immunoprecipitation

Co-immunoprecipitation (co-IP) is the most straightforward method to study protein-protein interaction. This method is based on the immunoprecipitation (IP) procedure. In a basic IP, an antibody, specific for the protein of interest, is used to bind to that protein in a solution that can have multiple proteins, for example a cell lysate. The antibodies are coupled to solid substrates, usually agarose or magnetic beads, either before or after incubation with the sample. The solid substrate is then used to collect the antibodies, which in turn collect the target proteins, allowing to wash-off the rest of the sample where all proteins that did not bind to the antibody remained. The protein can then either be eluted from the antibody and analysed or used in other applications. In an ideal, completely efficient IP reaction, all the target protein and that protein alone would be collected from the initial sample, however the efficiency of precipitation is influenced by various factors such as antibody binding affinity, wash stringency, among others.

In a co-IP reaction, the same procedure is used, but if the target protein, also referred to as bait, interacts with a second protein, that can be called prey, and if the interaction is maintained during the reaction, the prey will be "co-precipitated" together with the bait. However, co-precipitating the prey is not always easy due to the nature of the protein-protein interactions that can be weak or have low-affinity. So, the conditions in which the reaction is performed are crucial for a successful co-IP, particularly concerning the buffers chosen to lyse the cells and wash the beads. This is especially true when handling membrane proteins, due to their tendency to aggregate in solution. In these cases, a mild detergent must be used to keep the proteins soluble, but it cannot be strong enough to disrupt the protein-protein interaction.

In this work, the WRB/CAML complex was co-immunoprecipitated using either one of the two subunits as bait. The buffers used for the reaction contained Deoxy Big Chaps (DBC), since it had been demonstrated that both CAML and WRB are soluble and functional in the presence of this detergent (Colombo et al. 2016).

Hela cells, grown to confluency in a 28 cm<sup>2</sup> culture dish were washed twice with PBS before being harvested by scrapping in PBS. Cells were then pelleted by

centrifugation for 10 minutes at 800 g at 4 °C. The pellet was resuspended in hypotonic buffer (1 mM Tris-HCl pH7.5; 1 mM EDTA; 1 mM KCl; 1 mM NaCl) in the presence of protease inhibitors and incubated 10 minutes on ice to promote swelling of the cells by osmotic pressure. Swollen cells were homogenized by passing 50 times through a syringe needle ( $26Gx1/2^{\circ}$ ). Homogenized samples were then solubilized in a DBC containing buffer (0.6 % [w/v] DBC; 50 mM Hepes-K<sup>+</sup> pH7.4; 250 mM sorbitol; 70 mM potassium acetate; 5 mM EDTA; 2.5 mM magnesium acetate; protease inhibitor cocktail) and the nuclei were pelleted by centrifugation at 800 g for 10 minutes at 4 °C. The recovered supernatant, referred to as "post-nuclear supernatant" (PNS), was incubated for 1 hour at 30 °C

Equal aliquots of PNS were then used for co-IP reactions with either anti-CAML or anti-WRB antibodies, while one equal aliquot (Input) was immediately mixed with 0.5 volumes of DB 3X and boiled for 2 minutes at 100 °C. Each co-IP reaction was composed of PNS, a 1:1 protein G agarose slurry and 5 µg/mL of the antibody for the bait protein (either WRB or CAML antibody). A control co-IP reaction was performed in parallel, where the specific antibody was substituted with 5µg/mL of non-immune rabbit IgG (Sigma). The reactions were incubated overnight at 4 °C with mild agitation.

The next morning, the agarose beads were pelleted by centrifugation at 800 g for 5 minutes at 4 °C. The supernatant (Unbound) was recovered and immediately mixed with 0.5 volumes of DB 3X and boiled for 2 minutes at 100 °C.

The beads were washed, first with the same DBC containing buffer used to solubilize the samples and then with double-distilled H<sub>2</sub>O. After washing, DB was added to the beads and the sample (Bound) was then boiled for 2 minutes at 100 °C.

Samples were analysed by western-blot. For this, the entire Bound samples and half of both the Input and Unbound samples (50%) were loaded on a 12.5% polyacrylamide gel. Only half of the Input and Unbound samples were analysed in order to obtain western blot bands within the range expected for those in the Bound sample to allow for a better comparison, considering that the immunoprecipitation process is frequently poorly efficient.

The bands corresponding to each protein were quantified, the values for those corresponding to the Input and Unbound samples were multiplied by two, and the IP efficiency was determined by two different methods. Method 1:

 $IP_{Efficiency}(\%) = \frac{Signal_{Bound in IPx} - Signal_{Bound in IgG}}{(Signal_{Input})} \times 100$ 

#### Method 2:

 $IP_{Efficiency}(\%) = \frac{(Signal_{Input} - Signal_{Unbound in IPx}) - (Signal_{Input} - Signal_{Unbound in IgG})}{Signal_{Input}} \times 100$ 

Method 1 considers the signal of the protein bound to the beads, from which is subtracted the signal obtained in the IgG sample to correct for unspecific binding. However, this value may be underestimated due to protein loss during washes. Furthermore, the lanes containing the bound fraction have a much higher background, which makes the quantification more difficult.

Method 2 on the other hand considers the signal of the protein present in the Unbound sample, and subtracting it from the signal in the input, indirectly estimates the amount of protein that was bound by the antibody; the same calculation applied to the IgG sample is subtracted from this first value to correct for unspecific binding. This method, even if less direct, could be more precise since it does not suffer from the variability of the washing procedure.

To compare the co-IP efficiency obtained with the two baits (CAML and WRB), the co-IP efficiencies were further normalized to the IP efficiency of the protein used as bait.

#### 3.3.2 SDS-PAGE

Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (PAGE), is a technique widely used for the separation of proteins. In the absence of sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) proteins are separated according to their electrophoretic mobility which is related to the proteins'

higher order structural organization, the presence of post-translational modifications, overall surface charge and molecular weight. Although the analysis of these factors may be important for some applications, often one is interested in separating the proteins based solely on their molecular weight. For this, one can use SDS-PAGE.

In this work, protein from cell lysates prepared as described in Section 3.2.3.1 or from co-IP reactions prepared as described in Section 3.4.1 were separated in polyacrylamide gels (Stacking gel: 4 % [w/v] Acrylamide; 0.125 M Tris-HCl pH6.8; 0.1 % [w/v] SDS; 0.13 % [v/v] Temed; 0.065 % [w/v] APS; Resolving gel: 12.5% [w/v] Acrylamide; 0.75 M Tris-HCl pH 8.6; 0.1 % [w/v] SDS; 0.06 % [v/v] Temed; 0.03 % [w/v] APS) emerged in a glycine buffer (200 mM glycine; 25 mM Tris) with 0.1% SDS under constant voltage (120V) before being used for western blot.

#### 3.3.3 Western-blot

After being separated by SDS-PAGE, proteins can be transferred onto an immobilizing membrane.

In this work, proteins separated by SDS-PAGE were transferred into nitrocellulose membranes in the presence of a tris-glycine buffer solution (200 mM glycine; 25 mM tris; 20 % [v/v] methanol) by the application of a constant electric current for a determined amount of time, either 1 A for 3 hours or 0.16 A overnight.

The membranes were then blocked with blocking buffer (20 mM tris; 150 mM NaCl; 5 % [w/v] skim milk; 0.1 % [v/v] tween-20) and incubated with the antibodies listed in Table 3.2 using the described dilutions, followed by incubation with the respective secondary antibodies conjugated with fluorescent fluorophores. The membranes were then scanned with the Odyssey CLx Infrared Imaging System (LI-COR) and the fluorescence signal from the bands was quantified using Image Studio software (LI-COR).

Туре	Antibody	Description
Io	α-TUB	Monoclonal antibody raised in mouse against $\alpha$ -tubulin;
		clone B-5-1-2 (Sigma)
Io	α-WRB	Affinity purified, MBP depleted, polyclonal antibody
		raised in rabbit against WRBcc (Synaptic Systems)
Io	α-CAML	Polyclonal antibody raised in rabbit against CAML (gift
		from Richard Bram)
Io	α-GFP	Polyclonal antibody raised in rabbit against GFP (MBL)
IIº	α-mouse IR680	Secondary antibody raised in goat against mouse IgG;
		conjugated with IRDye 680 (Li-COR Biosciences)
IIº	α-rabbit IR800	Secondary antibody raised in goat against rabbit IgG;
		conjugated with IRDye 800 (Li-COR Biosciences)

 Table 3.2 - Antibodies used in this work for westernblot.

# RESULTS

## 4.1 The stability of the mRNA of the two subunits

Previous work has shown a strong destabilization of WRB mRNA upon CAML silencing (Colombo et al. 2016). This led to the formulation of the hypothesis that the transcripts of WRB and CAML could physically interact in such a way that the elimination of CAML mRNA by RNA interference could promote the concomitant degradation of WRB. The veracity of this hypothesis implied that, also in normal conditions, without undergoing silencing treatments, the two transcripts would show parallel degradation rates.

To test this hypothesis, we treated cells with the transcription inhibitor DRB, and determined the time course of WRB and CAML diminution by qPCR. As shown in Fig. 4.1, the two transcripts have very different decay rates: CAML mRNA decayed with a half-life of 4h, while WRB mRNA was quite stable, with an estimated half-life of ~20h (beyond the timescale of the experiment).

This result indicates that WRB mRNA stability does not depend on the presence of CAML transcript, and suggests instead that CAML protein, which is depleted in siRNA experiments (Colombo et al. 2016), is required for the stabilization effect.



**Fig. 4.4 – WRB transcript is more stable than CAML mRNA.** HeLa cells were treated with DRB for the indicated times. The RNA extracted from cell lysates of each time point was subjected to retrotranscription and qPCR probing for the transcripts of WRB, CAML and GAPDH. Fold difference, determined using time 0 as experimental calibrator is shown in the graph as mean  $\pm$  S.D. of triplicate measures of two independent experiments.

# 4.2 The effect of CAML silencing on the expression of a WRB transcript that lacks the endogenous UTRs

As already elucidated in the introduction, the UTRs are strongly involved in the post-transcriptional mechanisms that regulate, among other things, mRNA translation and stability. To investigate if the UTRs of the WRB mRNA could play a part in the destabilization of WRB transcript caused by CAML silencing, a WRB tagged construct (WRB-HA), lacking the endogenous UTRs was expressed in CAML silenced cells (siCAML).

Analysis of the protein levels, in comparison to a control (cells treated with scramble siRNA - siSCR), showed that, while the endogenous WRB is depleted upon CAML silencing (as seen before), the same is not true for WRB-HA (Fig. 4.2). The expression of WRB-HA was not affected by the silencing of CAML. This result suggests that the WRB mRNA UTRs could indeed be playing a role in the observed effect of CAML silencing.



**Fig. 4.2 – CAML silencing reduces the levels of endogenous WRB but not those of WRB-HA expressed from a transcript lacking the endogenous UTRs.** HeLa cells were treated with either a scramble (siSCR) or a CAML targeted siRNA (siCAML) for 48h and then transfected with the pRK5rs-WRB-HA plasmid that codes for WRB fused with a HA tag, and lacks WRB endogenous UTRs, together with a GFP-encoding plasmid, as reporter for transfection efficiency. (A) 24h after transfection cells were lysed and equal aliquots of lysate were analysed on SDS-PAGE followed by western blotting with the indicated antibodies. The HA tagged form of WRB runs slower on SDS-PAGE and is indicated with a white arrowhead while the endogenous form of WRB, which runs faster, is indicated with a black arrowhead. The hashtag (#) indicates an unidentified band produced by the expression of the pRK5rs-WRB-HA plasmid. (B) The intensities of the bands corresponding to each protein were quantified and Tubulin and GFP were used as normalizers for endogenous and transfected proteins, respectively. The fold-change with respect to control cells is shown in the graph as mean  $\pm$  S.D. of three independent experiments each analysed in duplicate; \* indicates p<0.05 for differences between silenced and control cells for each protein analysed by multiple t-test, with Holm-Sidak method for multiple comparison correction, after logarithmic transformation of the normalized band intensities.

### 4.3 The WRB 3' UTR

The GenBank annotation for WRB (Gene ID: 7485), predicts six different mRNA isoforms resulting from alternative splicing or promoters; isoform 1 is the one that codes for full length WRB. The isoforms vary at the 5' end, with two of the isoforms potentially coding for truncated forms of WRB, that lack the N-terminal, membrane-associating portion. The relevance of these isoforms is yet to be investigated.

As stated in the introduction, the 3'UTR of a mRNA is known to be a regulatory hub, where most binding sites for RBPs that regulate mRNA stability are present. Considering this, the sequence of the 3'UTR of WRB mRNA was analyzed in greater detail using 3' RACE to look for potential variations to the annotated sequence. This technique uses a oligodT containing backward primer, and a gene specific forward primer, so as to obtain amplicons of all polyadenylated 3'UTRs of the investigated transcript (see Methods).

Surprisingly, this analysis revealed a heterogeneous population of polyadenylated 3'UTRs (Fig. 4.3-B). The main 3' RACE product populations (bands a, b and c) were cloned into a pCRII-TOPO cloning vector and some of the resulting colonies were sequenced. Sequence alignment of the 3'RACE products with the annotated WRB transcript isoform 1 (and with all other isoforms – not shown) revealed that all sequenced transcripts aligned almost perfectly at the 5' end of the annotated 3' UTR, but some were shorter in length (Fig. 4.3-C; D).

It must be noted that some transcripts originating from molecular cloning of different 3'RACE product populations are identical. This is probably due to inefficient electrophoretic separation that resulted in cross-contamination of the different populations.

Furthermore, a bioinformatic analysis of the full length WRB 3'UTR revealed the presence of three putative ARE motifs. These motifs are known to be important for the regulation of the stability of mRNA. The position of the three AREs is represented in pink on the cartoon and in the sequence (Fig. 4.3-D).



**Fig. 4.3 – WRB transcript has an upstream ATG and is present in multiple isoforms that vary in 3'UTR length.** (A) The deposited sequence for WRB 5'UTR (NM\_004627.5); the presence of an upstream ATG is highlighted in yellow and in red is highlighted the in frame STOP codon. The main ORF ATG is represented in capital letters. (B) RNA extracted from HeLa cell lysates was retrotranscribed using either random primers or a 3'RACE adaptor to generate templates A and B, respectively. The two templates were then submitted to PCR amplification with specific primer pairs: primers 3, 4, 8 and 9, indicated in panel B. The different amplicons (a, b and c) obtained from Template B were isolated and cloned into a pCRII-TOPO cloning vector. Two constructs resulting from the cloning of each amplicon were sequenced. (C) Sequences from each of the produced constructs were aligned with the deposited sequence for WRB transcript, to which was added the 3'RACE adaptor sequence (schematized at the bottom of the panel). The matching regions of the sequence are shown in full red while the missing portions are represented by dotted lines. In the scheme are also represented (in pink) the four AUUUA pentamers within the 3'UTR, which are hallmarks of AREs. (D) The deposited sequence of WRB 3'UTR. Arrowheads indicate the positions of premature termination, with resulting truncated UTRs, identified by 3'RACE. The ARE pentamers represented in (C) are highlighted in pink.

# 4.4 The role of the UTRs in the regulation of WRB mRNA expression and on its CAML-sensitive stability

To investigate the importance of the WRB UTRs on its expression and on the CAML-sensitive stability, a dual-luciferase reporter system was used, with luciferase constructs carrying both WRB 5' and 3' UTRs.

Regarding the 5'UTR, bioinformatic analysis revealed that WRB has an upstream ATG of unknown consequence (Fig. 4.3-A). To analyse the importance of this upstream ATG, a set of luciferase constructs with this ATG mutated were designed. As described in the introduction, upstream initiation codons followed by an in frame stop codon may decrease the efficiency of translation of the main ORF. The upstream ATG of WRB transcript partially conforms to the Kozak consensus sequence, and could thus be used for translation. This would result in interruption of the scanning process, and consequent failure of the small ribosomal subunit-containing initiation complex to reach the subsequent AUG at the start of the main ORF of the transcript.

The 3'UTR sequence used was that annotated for isoform 1 of the WRB transcript, corresponding to our longest 3'RACE product.

First, the effect of each UTR, alone or combined, on the expression of luciferase was studied (Fig 4.4-A). Constructs carrying the 5'UTR were significantly less expressed (40% reduction) than the control. However, when the upstream ATG was mutated, the expression was restored to control levels. The 3'UTR, either alone or in combination with the 5'UTR did not have any effect on luciferase.

Next, the sensitivity of the different UTRs to CAML silencing was tested by expressing the various luciferase constructs in CAML silenced cells. To begin, it must be stated that treatment with different siRNAs influenced the expression of the luciferase backbone, reducing its expression by ~0.5 fold (see figure legend). The causes for this effect are not clear. Because of this, the analysis was performed on differences in fold-variation of luciferase expression with respect to the backbone control, for CAML silenced or control cells.



**Fig. 4.5** - **The UTRs regulate the expression of WRB and the 3'UTR is responsible for the CAML-sensitive stability. (A)** Luciferase constructs driven by the TK promoter and fused with WRB's UTRs were transiently transfected in HeLa cells together with a Renilla control plasmid. \*\*\*\* indicates statistical significant differences between the indicated groups, analysed by unmatched analysis of variance and Tukey post-hoc test, F (5,12) = 149.9, p<0.0001. (**B**) The same Luciferase constructs were transiently transfected together with a Renilla control plasmid in HeLa cells previously treated with either a scramble (siSCR) or a CAML-targeted (siCAML) siRNA for 48h. siRNA treatment (independently of the siRNA target) had an off-target effect on the luciferase backbone, causing a 59% reduction in its activity with respect to scramble. Considering this, the analysis of the data was performed as fold-variation in Luciferase activity of each construct with respect to the backbone for CAML silenced or control samples. \* and \*\* indicates statistically significant differences, in the fold-variation, with respect to the backbone, between the indicated groups, analysed by unpaired Student's t-test (p<0.05 and p<0.01 respectively). For both panels, the Luciferase activity, determined 24h after transfection, was measured as a function of luciferase luminescence signal normalized to Renilla luminescence signal. Values are expressed as mean ± S.D. of fold-variation of three independent experiments, each performed in duplicate.

As shown in Fig. 4.4-B, the expression of 5'UTR constructs did not change significantly in response to CAML silencing, irrespectively of the presence or not of the upstream ATG. By contrast, constructs carrying the WRB 3'UTR were significantly less expressed with respect to the backbone in CAML silenced cells (~0.5 fold). This reduced expression was observed in all the constructs containing the 3'UTR, regardless of whether it was alone or in combination with the wt or mutated 5'UTR.

As indicated above, the WRB 3'UTR, here shown to be responsible for the sensitivity of WRB to the silencing of CAML, has three putative ARE motifs. ARE motifs have been proposed to be very important for the regulation of mRNA stability. Thus, considering the presence of these putative AREs (Fig 4.3-C; D), a new luciferase construct containing a portion of the 3'UTR that excluded the AREs (Fig. 4.5-A) was designed. As shown in Fig. 4.5-B, expression of this construct was equally sensitive to CAML silencing as the one containing the full-length 3'UTR. Thus, the CAML-sensitive stability of WRB mRNA is not mediated by the ARE sites.



Fig. 4.6 – The stabilization of the WRB mRNA by CAML is not ARE-mediated. (A) Schematic representation of the AREless region of the WRB transcript cloned into pTKpGL4.11 (see Section 3.2.1.10 for details). (B) Luciferase constructs, with either full length or an AREless portion of WRB 3'UTR, were transiently transfected together with a Renilla control plasmid in HeLa cells previously treated with either a scramble (siSCR) or a CAML-targeted siRNA (siCAML) for 48h. Luciferase activity, determined 24h after transfection, was measured as a function of Luciferase to Renilla luminescence signals. Values are expressed as mean  $\pm$  S.D. of fold-variation in Luciferase activity with respect to the Luciferase backbone of one experiment performed in duplicate.

## 4.5 Characterization of the WRB-CAML interaction

In yeast, Get1 and 2 form a complex, the two subunits are expressed in approximate 1:1 ratio, and deletion of one subunit causes depletion of the other one (Mariappan et al. 2011). This result is consistent with the idea that the two subunits form a 1:1 complex, and that each subunit is required for its partner's stability (see Introduction). In mammals, however, the situation appears to be more complex. On the one hand, WRB and CAML form a complex (Yamamoto and Sakisaka 2012; Colombo et al. 2016), and the overexpressed proteins are unstable in yeast unless expressed together (Vilardi et al. 2014), suggesting that the relationship between CAML and WRB is similar to the one between Get1 and 2. On the other hand, however, a study from my laboratory (Colombo et al. 2016), based on quantitative immunoblotting reported that in mammalian cells CAML is present in ~5-fold excess over WRB. This finding fits well with the multiple reported functions of CAML (Shing et al. 2017), but is difficult to reconcile with the effect of WRB depletion on CAML expression levels.

To reconcile these previous contradictory findings, I considered the possibility that, in mammals, WRB and CAML might form a super-complex, in which CAML would be in molar excess over WRB. The previous study (Colombo et al. 2016) had demonstrated that WRB is quantitatively associated with CAML, but the reverse, whether all CAML is associated with WRB, had not been tested.

To investigate the stoichiometry of the complex, I carried out coimmunoprecipitation experiments with anti-WRB and anti-CAML antibodies. If all the excess CAML were in complex with WRB, one would expect it to co-precipitate with WRB with the same efficiency as the reverse precipitation (WRB with CAML).

Cell lysates were prepared with a mild detergent (DBC) that preserves the WRB-CAML complex (Colombo et al. 2016). As shown in Fig. 4.6, using WRB as bait, also a fraction of CAML was co-precipitated (Fig. 4.6-A; B; D). In parallel, an antibody raised against CAML could immunoprecipitate native CAML itself while pulling down together a considerable fraction of WRB.


Fig. 4.7 – Co-immunoprecipitation of the WRB/CAML complex reveals the presence of a WRB-free population of CAML. (A) HeLa cells were mechanically lysed in a DBC containing buffer. The post-nuclear supernatant (PNS) obtained was used for co-immunoprecipitation with either anti-WRB or anti-CAML antibodies, rabbit IgG was used as control. Input, bound and unbound fractions were then analyzed on SDS-PAGE followed by western blotting with the indicated antibodies. (B) The bands corresponding to each protein present in the Bound fraction were quantified and the percentage of IP efficiency, quantified using "Method 1" (see Section 3.3.1). (D) The bands corresponding to each protein present in the Unbound fraction were quantified and the percentage of IP efficiency is shown in the graph as mean  $\pm$  half-range of two independent experiments. (C and E) The means of the percentage of precipitated protein obtained from each method were normalized to the percentage of precipitated bait.

The interpretation of the results was not straightforward, because, while the anti-CAML antibody was fairly efficient in immunoprecipitating its cognate antigen, the anti-WRB antibody was much less proficient in immunoprecipitation (Fig. 4.6-A; B).

As stated in the Methods section, two different procedures were used to quantify the IP and co-IP efficiency. The first one (Fig. 4.6-B) uses the amount of protein found in the "Bound" fraction, while the second one (Fig. 4.6-D) uses the amount of protein found in the "Unbound" fraction. Although some differences in the efficiency of the various IPs were observed for the different methods, the overall result was rather similar. To better appreciate the result and considering the variability in antibody efficiency, the co-IP efficiency of each prey was normalized to the IP efficiency of the respective bait (Fig. 4.6-C; E). In the hypothesis that all WRB interacts with all CAML, the relative efficiency of co-IP should be similar, independently on the bait being used. However, that was not observed. The relative amount of CAML that was pulled down with WRB was lower than the relative amount of WRB that was pulled down with CAML. This result confirms the molar excess of CAML over WRB reported by Colombo et al. (2016) and furthermore indicates the existence of a population of CAML that is not bound to WRB.

#### 4.6 The effect of WRB silencing on CAML transcript stability

Although the silencing of CAML was seen to provoke a great destabilization of the WRB transcript, the reverse situation showed that CAML transcript levels were only slightly reduced upon WRB silencing (Colombo et al. 2016). To further investigate the effect of WRB silencing on CAML at both protein and transcript levels, I investigated whether the stability of the CAML transcript is affected by WRB depletion, as occurs in the reverse case. The results are shown in Fig. 4.7.



**Fig. 4.8** – **The silencing of WRB depletes CAML protein but does not affect either the amount or the stability of the transcript.** HeLa cells were treated with either a control scramble (siSCR) or a WRB targeted siRNA (siWRB) for 68h. (A) Cells were lysed and equal aliquots of lysate were analysed by SDS-PAGE followed by western blotting with the indicated antibodies. (B) The band intensity of each protein was quantified and Tubulin was used as endogenous normalizer. The fold-variation of WRB silenced cells with respect to control is shown in the graph as mean  $\pm$  S.D of two independent experiments analysed in duplicate. (C) RNA extracted from WRB silenced and control cells was subjected to retrotranscription and qPCR probing for WRB, CAML and GAPDH mRNA. Fold difference was determined with siSCR as experimental calibrator for each probe. The result is shown in the graph as mean  $\pm$  S.D of triplicate measures of two independent experiments. (D) After silencing, cells were treated with DRB (60µM) for the indicated times. The RNA extracted from cell lysates of each time point was subjected to retrotranscription and qPCR probing for the transcripts of CAML and GAPDH. Fold-variation, determined using time 0 (cells not exposed to DRB) as experimental calibrator, is shown in the graph as mean  $\pm$  S.D. of triplicate measures of two independent experimental calibrator, is shown in the graph as mean  $\pm$  S.D. of triplicate measures of two independent experimental calibrator, is shown in the graph as mean  $\pm$  S.D. of triplicate measures of two independent experimental calibrator, is shown in the graph as mean  $\pm$  S.D. of triplicate measures of two independent experimental calibrator, is shown in the graph as mean  $\pm$  S.D. of triplicate measures of two independent experimental calibrator, is shown in the graph as mean  $\pm$  S.D. of triplicate measures of two independent experiments.

Confirming the results of Colombo et al. (2016), the silencing of WRB, greatly reduced the levels of CAML protein (Fig. 4.7-A; B) while not having any effect of the transcript levels (Fig. 4.7-C). To understand if the silencing of WRB had any effect on the stability of CAML mRNA, the levels of CAML transcript were analysed over time after inhibition of transcription as described for the experiments of Fig. 4.1 (Fig. 4.7-D). The results show that there is no significant effect of WRB silencing on the overall stability of CAML transcript. In control cells (siSCR), the half-life of CAML transcript was ~6h, close to that found in control cells (Fig. 4.1). This value remained unchanged in cells silenced for WRB. This result indicates that the depletion of CAML protein upon WRB silencing is not due to the destabilization of its transcript, as is to be the case for the reverse situation.

The reason for the depletion of CAML protein upon WRB silencing remained elusive. It was hypothesised that it could be either due to a loss of CAML protein stability or to a potential interaction of WRB with some translational regulation factor present in CAML UTRs. To investigate this, a CAML tagged construct (FLAGCAML), that lacked the endogenous CAML UTRs, was expressed in WRB silenced cells. The results show that, although not statistically significant, there was a 40% reduction in the expression of FLAGCAML when WRB was silenced (Fig. 4.8), suggesting that WRB depletion interferes with CAML protein stability.



**Fig. 4.9 – The effect of WRB silencing on CAML is independent of CALM's UTRs.** HeLa cells were treated with either a control scramble (siSCR) or a WRB targeted siRNA (siWRB) for 72h, after which they were transfected with the pCLX31.1-FLAGhCAML plasmid, which codes for a FLAG tagged form of CAML and lacks the endogenous UTRs, together with a plasmid encoding GFP, as reporter for transfection efficiency. (A) After 24h of transfection cells were lysed and equal aliquots of lysate were analysed on SDS-PAGE followed by western blotting with the indicated antibodies. FLAG tagged CAML which migrates more slowly on SDS-PAGE is indicated with a white arrowhead while endogenous CAML is indicated with a black arrowhead. (B) The intensity of the blotted bands was quantified; Tubulin and GFP were used for normalization of endogenous and transfected proteins, respectively. The fold-change with respect to siSCR treated cells is shown in the graph as mean  $\pm$  S.D. of three independent experiments, each analysed in duplicate; \* indicates p<0.05 for differences between silenced and control cells for each indicated protein analysed by multiple t-test, with Holm-Sidak method for multiple comparison correction, after logarithmic transformation of normalized band intensities. FLAGCAML levels are reduced by WRB silencing, although the difference did not reach statistical significance.

## DISCUSSION

In this thesis, I have investigated novel mechanisms by which two subunits of a protein complex, the TRC40 receptor, influence each other's expression in mammalian cells. My results reveal previously undescribed modalities of subunit co-regulation, which may likely be relevant also for other complexes, including oligomeric receptors and ion channels. I discuss in turn WRB regulation by CAML, and, *viceversa*, CAML regulation by WRB.

#### 5.1 How CAML depletion affects WRB levels

## 5.1.1 WRB transcript stabilization is mediated by CAML protein and not CAML transcript

My research had as starting point the unexpected observation by Colombo et al. (2016) that CAML depletion causes instability of the WRB transcript. Since the siRNA technique causes the degradation of the target mRNA with consequent depletion of the protein product, my first question was whether the stabilization of the WRB transcript by CAML was due to the CAML transcript or to the CAML protein. Indeed, a recent study demonstrated that the mRNAs encoding two subunits of a heteromeric K<sup>+</sup>-channel expressed in cardiomyocytes are physically associated, and each one influences the stability of the other one (Liu et al. 2016). We reasoned, that if this were the case also for the WRB-CAML pair, the two transcripts should show parallel degradation kinetics, revealed after a block of transcription by DRB. We found instead that the two transcripts had distinctly different stabilities, such that the one encoding WRB were hardly affected by an ~80% reduction in CAML transcript at 8 h of treatment with DRB. This result indicates that the destabilizing effect of CAML silencing on WRB transcript is mediated by CAML protein.

#### 5.1.2 WRB transcript stabilization by CAML is mediated by the 3' UTR.

As described in the Introduction, a frequently observed phenomenon in the biogenesis of protein oligomers is the association of one subunit with the nascent polypeptide chain of other subunits of the complex (Duncan and Mata 2011). This interaction allows for efficient assembly of the complex, but could also affect the stability of the captured mRNA. On the other hand, it is well known that the UTRs, especially the 3'UTR, play a key role in determining mRNA stability. To investigate whether CAML interacts with WRB nascent chains or whether its effect is mediated by interactions of the UTRs, I expressed a tagged WRB construct that is translated from a transcript lacking the UTRs of the endogenous WRB transcript. I found that the levels of transfected tagged WRB were not affected by CAML silencing, strongly suggesting that the WRB UTRs underlie instability of the transcript in the absence of CAML. This conclusion was confirmed by my experiments with luciferase constructs carried out in CAML-depleted or control cells. Indeed, the 3'UTR reduced luciferase expression when CAML was depleted, while it had no effect in control cells. Furthermore, the 3' UTR was not only necessary, but also sufficient for this effect. Indeed, while the 5' UTR also reduced luciferase expression, this effect, which was due to the upstream AUG, was insensitive to the presence or absence of CAML.

#### 5.1.3 AU- rich elements (AREs).

The above results confirmed that the coding sequence of the WRB transcript is not involved in the CAML effect and demonstrated that the 3'UTR is the region of the mRNA that underlies the instability of the transcript in the absence of CAML. My next step was to identify the region within the 3'UTR responsible for the instability and for the CAML-dependent stabilization. Upon analysis of the 3'UTR, I noticed three possible Class I ARE motifs; these are defined as containing 1-3 interspersed copies of the pentamer AUUUA surrounded by U-rich regions (Wu and Brewer 2012). Analysis of the WRB mRNA 3'UTR using the AREsite2 software, identified three potential AREs, two between position 655 and 703, at 247 nucleotides from the polyA, and one upstream sequence at position 63-68. I considered these three sequences as candidate mediators of the observed phenomenon. Here I give a brief summary of the features of these key regulatory elements.

As briefly mentioned in the introduction (Section 1.4), ARE motifs are 3'UTR elements that are the target of several RBPs, composing a complex regulatory network that affects mRNA localisation, translation and stability (review: Wu and Brewer 2012). The complexity of the ARE-mediated regulation is demonstrated by several reports indicating that multiple proteins can bind to these motifs, competing between each other to regulate stability and/or translation and also the interaction of miRNAs with the target mRNAs.

RBPs bind to ARE motifs through diverse domains including RNA-recognition motifs (RRM), CCCH tandem zinc fingers and K-homology domains (KH). Moreover, a single protein can have multiple motifs, which provide them with the ability to simultaneously bind to multiple targets or multiple sites in the same target. To date, over twenty ARE-binding proteins (ARE-BP) have been identified, some of them with potentially redundant functions and other with contradictory reports on how they affect the target mRNA (Shen and Malter 2015). Some of the best characterized ARE-BPs are AUF1, TTP, TIA-1, TIAR, KSRP and HuR. These ARE-BPs are often catalogued based on their most common effect on target mRNA: TTP, KSRP and AUF1 (in an isoform dependent way) are usually reported as promoting mRNA degradation; HuR and AUF1 (again, depending on the isoform) are often referred to as mRNA stabilizers; TIA-1 and TIAR are said to be translational repressors (Khabar 2017). However, this classification is not always straightforward, and the same ARE-BP can - depending on target mRNA, type of stimulus, or environmental cues - present opposite behaviours regarding target modulation. These contrasting functions for singular ARE-BPs may be due to the fact that ARE-BPs may present a high level of crosstalk with another class of mRNA regulatory factors, miRNAs (Ho and Marsden 2014; Plass et al. 2017). This crosstalk is thought to be responsible for the complex, often contradictory, regulation of target mRNA fate by AREs. For instance, it has been suggested that a single ARE-BP can either compete with miRNAs for binding (Simone and Keene 2013) or cooperate with miRNAs to stabilize or degrade a target mRNA (Sharma et al. 2013).

Interestingly, this ARE-BP-mediated modulation of the destiny of target mRNAs is regulated also by ARE-BP post-translational modifications. The ability of these proteins to interact with target mRNAs and with each other has been seen to be strongly affected

by ARE-BP phosphorylation by MAPK and PI3K/AKT signalling cascades, allowing the ARE-BP to quickly modulate the expression of several early response genes, such as cytokines, lymphokines and proto-oncogenes (Winzen et al. 2004; Palanisamy et al. 2012; Shen and Malter 2015).

#### 5.1.4 The WRB transcript AREs are not involved in mediating CAMLsensitive instability.

Given the widespread effect of AREs on mRNA metabolism, I investigated their potential role in mediating the effect of CAML on WRB transcript stability. I therefore produced a luciferase construct, in which the 3'UTR was truncated at position 438, with the consequent deletion of the downstream AREs; in addition, the first 68 nucleotides of the 3'UTR were deleted, with removal of the upstream ARE. Unexpectedly, I found that the resulting "mini"-3' UTR was as effective as the full-length sequence in reducing luciferase expression in the absence, but not in the presence, of CAML. Although this result did not meet my expectations, it restricts the CAML-sensitive regulatory portion of the 3'UTR to 370 nucleotides (position 69 - 439 of the 3'UTR). My future work will be directed at further restricting the active portion to identify the responsible sequence.

## 5.1.5 What is the mechanism through which CAML stabilizes the WRB transcript?

As illustrated in Fig. 5.1, left panel, I favour a model, in which CAML would directly or indirectly associate with the 3' UTR of the WRB transcript. This association would have three beneficial effects: (i) it would keep the WRB transcript close to the ER membrane; this would allow the hydrophobic stretches at the N-terminus (the future TMDs) to have easier access to the Sec61 translocon for subsequent insertion into the ER bilayer. In the classical model of membrane protein insertion into the ER, it is SRP, *via* the SRP receptor, that brings the ribosome-mRNA-nascent polypeptide complex to the ER membrane for subsequent delivery to Sec61 (Blobel and Dobberstein 1975; Blobel 2000). However, SRP recognition may not always be 100% efficient, and the occurrence of translation of a membrane protein in the cytosol could be very harmful to the cell. Thus, it is not surprising that ribosome-independent anchorage to the ER of mRNAs

coding for membrane proteins has been observed (Cui et al. 2015; Chen et al. 2011). The possibility of direct delivery of nascent chains to the translocon, bypassing the SRP step, has also been reported (Potter and Nicchitta 2002); (ii) it would guarantee translation of WRB to occur in proximity to its CAML partner, thus facilitating assembly (see Introduction); (iii) by restricting WRB mRNA to the ER compartment, it would protect it from access to the RNA degradation machinery of the cell, resulting in the observed stabilization.

CAML does not have any known RNA binding motifs, thus it is difficult to envisage, although it is fully possible, that it directly binds the 3' UTR of the WRB transcript. However, its interaction with WRB mRNA's 3'UTR could be mediated by another protein, or even by a miRNA (see Fig. 5.1). Indeed, the utilization of online software miRWalk2.0 to identify miRNA recognition sequences in WRB mRNA's 3' UTR identified one sequence as potential target for miRNA 24-1.

Admittedly, at the present stage of my research, I cannot exclude that CAML's effect on WRB mRNA's stability is indirect, mediated by a cascade of events related to the many reported functions of CAML (Shing et al. 2017). CAML could alter the expression levels of a stabilizing or destabilizing factor (protein or miRNA). My current research is directed at demonstrating (or excluding) the existence of a complex between CAML and WRB mRNA.

### 5.1.6 WRB mRNA's CAML-sensitive stability: a failsafe mechanism to avoid useless translation of a "lonely" subunit.

As described in the Introduction, quality control systems in the cell ensure that oligomer subunits, if produced in excess over their partners, are rapidly degraded, and this phenomenon is generally thought to underlie the reduction of the levels of all complex subunits, when one of them is depleted by RNA interference. My results show that, in addition to this quality control mechanism, regulation of the transcript levels may also be important. It should be noted that, while my results indicate that a free pool of CAML exists in the ER, the reverse is not true: indeed, previous results from my lab (Colombo et al. 2016) demonstrated that WRB is quantitatively associated with CAML.

Whatever the mechanism by which CAML stabilizes the WRB transcript, the final result will be that WRB is not produced in the absence of CAML. Such a regulation,

operating at the level of the transcript, is a cost-effective way of limiting the presence of a "lonely" subunit. If no CAML is around, why should the cell spend the energy to produce WRB and then degrade it? To be noted, also degradation by the ubiquitin-proteasome system is an energy-consuming process. Of course, in real life, CAML levels may vary, but are not expected to fall to nearly zero, as in siRNA experiments. Nevertheless, the physiological implications of my results are clear: WRB production is expected to be regulated by the availability of CAML, and could thus be modulated by variations in the levels of its partner.

#### 5.2 How WRB depletion affects CAML levels

My investigation of the effects of WRB silencing on CAML transcript levels yielded results quite different from those obtained for the reverse situation. Indeed, in agreement with a recent study on conditional knockout mice (Rivera-Monroy et al. 2016), CAML transcript levels and its stability were unaffected by WRB depletion. It must be stated that the results on the transcript levels were slightly different from those obtained by Colombo et al. (2016), who did observe a 20-30% reduction in CAML transcript following WRB silencing. While at present I do not know the reason for this discrepancy, in both my hands and in the studies of Colombo et al. and of Rivera-Monroy et al, CAML protein levels did not go in parallel with those of CAML transcript: in my hands, CAML transcript was unaltered, and CAML protein was depleted to the same extent as WRB; in the study of Colombo et al., a ~25% reduction in CAML transcript levels was accompanied by depletion of 90% of CAML. These results indicate that, in the absence of WRB, CAML protein is not expressed in cells, and strongly suggests that CAML stability requires the presence of WRB protein. This conclusion was strengthened by the observation that expression of a tagged form of CAML, expressed from a cDNA lacking the UTRs, was reduced upon WRB silencing, differently from the result obtained in the specular experiment (tagged WRB expression from a cDNA lacking the UTRs was not affected by CAML silencing).

The dependency of CAML on WRB protein could be easily understood if CAML were quantitatively included in a WRB-containing complex. That this is not the case was already suggested by the work of Colombo et al. (2016), and directly shown here by co-immunoprecipitation experiments. When normalized to the efficiency of immunoprecipitation of the antibodies, 50-70% of WRB co-precipitated with CAML, while only 10-30% of CAML co-precipitated with WRB from the same lysate. Thus, it appears that at least 50% of the CAML molecules exist free of WRB.

So, how can the destabilization of CAML in the absence of WRB be explained, given the large pool of free CAML molecules that exist without being associated with WRB? Clearly the effect of WRB on CAML cannot be mediated by a stoichiometric mechanism, and must be catalytic. I suggest that this catalytic mechanism could consist WRB assisting CAML insertion into the ER membrane. CAML's TMDs are close to its Cterminus; they might, therefore, be inefficiently recognized by SRP. Indeed, in yeast, it has been shown that recognition by SRP is optimal if the position of the hydrophobic sequence in the nascent chain is not too far removed from the N-terminus (Aviram et al. 2016). Although CAML is not a TA protein, the vicinity of its TMDs to the C-terminus might permit it to interact with TRC40; in this case, the TRC40 receptor (WRB/CAML) would be involved in its insertion into the ER membrane. In other words, CAML would use itself to integrate into the bilayer. This situation would not be unusual: for instance, also the a subunit of Sec61 requires a pre-existing Sec61 translocon to integrate into the ER membrane (Knight and High 1998). In the absence of integration into the ER membrane, CAML would be recognized by the UPS and degraded. Our model for the role of WRB in CAML biogenesis is depicted in Fig. 5.1 (right).

#### 5.3 Conclusions

The research for this thesis has uncovered novel, and unexpected modes of regulation of the expression of oligomer subunit. Indeed, I show that, beyond the important concept of quality control, meaning with this the degradation of unassembled oligomer subunits, mRNA stability of one subunit can be affected by depletion of another one, and that protein stability may be affected also in cases in which a portion of one subunit is not incorporated in the oligomer. These novel observations may be relevant for other protein complexes, and open a large number of questions, which I summarized in the preceding sections of this discussion, and which I hope to address in my future research.



**Fig. 5.1** – **Models for the mechanism of reciprocal regulation of the expression of TRC40 receptor subunits.** Row 1: under normal conditions WRB (red) is quantitatively associated with CAML (green), but, in addition, a pool of CAML subunits not associated with WRB is present. Row 2: silencing of CAML (left) or of WRB (right), indicated by the crosses, results in depletion of the companion subunit (represented as ghosts in light colour). Row 3: left: under normal conditions, WRB mRNA is kept close to the ER membrane thanks to the interaction of its 3' UTR with CAML. The possibility of an indirect interaction with CAML is indicated by the black triangle (X). WRB nascent polypeptide is generally recognized by SRP (black), but could also be directly delivered to the ER membrane, thanks to the CAML-mRNA association. The compartmentalization of the WRB transcript protects it from access to nucleases (indicated by the scissors). When CAML is absent (black cross) the association of the WRB transcript with the ER membrane is in part lost (mediated now only by the SRP-SRP receptor interaction). The free WRB transcript is now accessible to the RNA degradation machinery. Right: under control conditions, the C-terminal TMD of CAML is recognized by TRC40, and delivered to the ER membrane via interaction with the TRC40 receptor, composed of WRB and CAML itself. When WRB is absent, TRC40 cannot deliver its cargo to the ER, and CAML, released into the cytosol, is degraded. See text for further explanation.

# References

- Abell, Benjamin M, Martin R Pool, Oliver Schlenker, Irmgard Sinning, and Stephen High.
   2004. "Signal Recognition Particle Mediates Post-Translational Targeting in Eukaryotes." *The EMBO Journal* 23 (14): 2755–64.
- Abell, Benjamin M, Catherine Rabu, Pawel Leznicki, Jason C Young, and Stephen High.
   2007. "Post-Translational Integration of Tail-Anchored Proteins Is Facilitated by Defined Molecular Chaperones." *Journal of Cell Science* 120 (Pt 10): 1743–51.
- Alberts, Bruce, Alexander Johnson, Julian Lewis, Martin Raff, Keith Roberts, and Peter Walter. 2014. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*. 6th ed. New York and Abingdon: Garland Science.
- Anderson, Paul, and Nancy Kedersha. 2006. "RNA Granules." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 172 (6): 803–8.
- Anfinsen, C B, E Haber, M Selajf, and F H White. 1961. "The Kinetics of Formation of Native Ribonuclease during Oxidation of the Reduced Polypeptide Chain." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 47 (9): 1309–14.
- Ausubel, Frederick M., Roger Brent, Robert E. Kingston, David D. Moore, J.G. Seidman,John A. Smith, and Kevin Struhl, eds. 2001. *Current Protocols in Molecular Biology*.Hoboken, NJ, USA: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Aviram, Naama, Tslil Ast, Elizabeth A. Costa, Eric C. Arakel, Silvia G. Chuartzman, Calvin H. Jan, Sarah Haßdenteufel, et al. 2016. "The SND Proteins Constitute an Alternative Targeting Route to the Endoplasmic Reticulum." *Nature* 540 (7631): 134–38.
- Barrett, Lucy W., Sue Fletcher, and Steve D. Wilton. 2012. "Regulation of Eukaryotic Gene Expression by the Untranslated Gene Regions and Other Non-Coding Elements." *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* 69 (21): 3613–34.
- Beilharz, Traude, Billie Egan, Pamela A Silver, Kay Hofmann, and Trevor Lithgow. 2003.
  "Bipartite Signals Mediate Subcellular Targeting of Tail-Anchored Membrane Proteins in Saccharomyces Cerevisiae." *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 278 (10): 8219–23.
- Berg, Bert Van Den, R John Ellis, and Christopher M Dobson. 1999. "Effects of Macromolecular Crowding on Protein Folding and Aggregation." The EMBO Journal 18 (24): 6927–33.
- Bernasconi, Riccardo, and Maurizio Molinari. 2011. "ERAD and ERAD Tuning: Disposal

of Cargo and of ERAD Regulators from the Mammalian ER." *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* 23 (2): 176–83.

Blobel, G. 2000. "Protein Targeting (Nobel Lecture)." Chembiochem 1 (2): 86–102.

- Blobel, G, and B Dobberstein. 1975. "Transfer of Proteins across Membranes." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 67 (3): 835–51.
- Borgese, Nica, Sara Colombo, and Emanuela Pedrazzini. 2003. "The Tale of Tail-Anchored Proteins: Coming from the Cytosol and Looking for a Membrane." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 161 (6): 1013–19.
- Borgese, Nica, and Elisa Fasana. 2011. "Targeting Pathways of C-Tail-Anchored Proteins." *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1808 (3): 937–46.
- Borgese, Nica, and Marco Righi. 2010. "Remote Origins of Tail-Anchored Proteins." *Traffic* 11 (7): 877–85.
- Bram, Richard J., and Gerald R. Crabtree. 1994. "Calcium Signalling in T Cells Stimulated by a Cyclophilin B-Binding Protein." *Nature* 371: 355–58.
- Brambillasca, Silvia, Monica Yabal, Marja Makarow, and Nica Borgese. 2006. "Unassisted Translocation of Large Polypeptide Domains across Phospholipid Bilayers." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 175 (5): 767–77.
- Brambillasca, Silvia, Monica Yabal, Paolo Soffientini, Sandra Stefanovic, Marja Makarow, Ramanujan S Hegde, and Nica Borgese. 2005. "Transmembrane Topogenesis of a Tail-Anchored Protein Is Modulated by Membrane Lipid Composition." *The EMBO Journal* 24 (14): 2533–42.
- Bulow, Gotz-Ulrich von, and Richard J. Bram. 1997. "NF-AT Activation Induced by a CAML-Interacting Member of the Tumor Necrosis Factor Receptor Superfamily." *Science* 273 (5335): 138–41.
- Chartron, Justin W, Christian J M Suloway, Ma 'ayan Zaslaver, and William M Clemons. 2010. "Structural Characterization of the Get4/Get5 Complex and Its Interaction with Get3." *PNAS* 107 (27): 12127–32.
- Chartron, Justin W, David G VanderVelde, William M Clemons, and Jr. 2012. "Structures of the Sgt2/SGTA Dimerization Domain with the Get5/UBL4A UBL Domain Reveal an Interaction That Forms a Conserved Dynamic Interface." *Cell Reports* 2 (6): 1620–32.
- Chen, Chyi-Ying A., and Ann-Bin Shyu. 1995. "AU-Rich Elements: Characterization and

Importance in mRNA Degradation." Trends in Biochemical Sciences 20: 465–70.

- Chen, Qiang, Sujatha Jagannathan, David W Reid, Tianli Zheng, and Christopher V Nicchitta. 2011. "Hierarchical Regulation of mRNA Partitioning between the Cytoplasm and the Endoplasmic Reticulum of Mammalian Cells." *Molecular Biology of the Cell* 22 (14): 2646–58.
- Colombo, Sara F, Renato Longhi, and Nica Borgese. 2009. "The Role of Cytosolic Proteins in the Insertion of Tail-Anchored Proteins into Phospholipid Bilayers." *Journal of Cell Science* 122 (Pt 14): 2383–92.
- Colombo, Sara Francesca, Silvia Cardani, Annalisa Maroli, Adriana Vitiello, Paolo Soffientini, Arianna Crespi, Richard F. Bram, Roberta Benfante, and Nica Borgese.
  2016. "Tail-Anchored Protein Insertion in Mammals Function and Reciprocal Interactions of the Two Subunits of the trc40receptor." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 291 (29). American Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology: 15292–306.
- Costa, Bruna, Patrizia Cassella, Sara Francesca Colombo, and Nica Borgese. 2017. "Discrimination between the ER and the Mitochondrial Outer Membrane by Spontaneously Inserting Tail-Anchored Proteins."
- Costanzo, M., A. Baryshnikova, J. Bellay, Y. Kim, E. D. Spear, C. S. Sevier, H. Ding, et al. 2010. "The Genetic Landscape of a Cell." *Science* 327 (5964): 425–31.
- Cui, Xianying a, Hui Zhang, Lena Ilan, Ai Xin Liu, Iryna Kharchuk, and Alexander F Palazzo. 2015. "mRNA Encoding Sec61β, a Tail-Anchored Protein, Is Localized on the Endoplasmic Reticulum." *Journal of Cell Science* 128: 3398–3410.
- Dandekarab, Thomas, Berend Snela, Martijn Huynena, and Peer Borkab. 1998. "Conservation of Gene Order: A Fingerprint of Proteins That Physically Interact." *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* 23 (9): 324–28.
- Daniele, Lauren L., Farida Emran, Glenn P. Lobo, Robert J. Gaivin, and Brian D. Perkins.
   2016. "Mutation of Wrb, a Component of the Guided Entry of Tail-Anchored Protein Pathway, Disrupts Photoreceptor Synapse Structure and Function." *Investigative Ophthalmology and Visual Science* 57 (7): 2942–54.
- Decker, Carolyn J, and Roy Parker. 2012. "P-Bodies and Stress Granules : Possible Roles in the Control of Translation and mRNA Degradation." *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 4: a012286.

- Dubois, M F, S Bellier, S J Seo, and O Bensaude. 1994. "Phosphorylation of the RNA Polymerase II Largest Subunit during Heat Shock and Inhibition of Transcription in HeLa Cells." *Journal of Cellular Physiology* 158 (3): 417–26.
- Duncan, Caia D. S., and Juan Mata. 2011. "Widespread Cotranslational Formation of Protein Complexes." *PLoS Genetics* 7 (12): e1002398.
- Egeo, Aliana, Michela Mazzocco, Federica Sotgia, Patrizio Arrigo, Rafael Oliva, Salvador Bergonòn, Dean Nizetic, Alberto Rasore-Quartino, and P. Scartezzini. 1998. "Identification and Characterization of a New Human cDNA from Chromosome 21q22.3 Encoding a Basic Nuclear Protein." *Human Genetics* 102 (3): 289–93.
- Ellis, R. John. 2001. "Macromolecular Crowding: Obvious but Underappreciated." *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* 26 (10): 597–604.
- Favaloro, Vincenzo, Milan Spasic, Blanche Schwappach, and Bernhard Dobberstein.
  2008. "Distinct Targeting Pathways for the Membrane Insertion of Tail-Anchored (TA) Proteins." *Journal of Cell Science* 121 (11): 1832–40.
- Filbin, Megan E, Jeffrey S Kieft, Eric Westhof, and Dinshaw J Patel. 2009. "Toward a Structural Understanding of IRES RNA Function." *Current Opinion in Structural Biology* 19: 267–76.
- Fueller, Julia, Mikhail V. Egorov, Kirstin A. Walther, Ola Sabet, Jana Mallah, Markus Grabenbauer, and Ali Kinkhabwala. 2015. "Subcellular Partitioning of Protein Tyrosine Phosphatase 1B to the Endoplasmic Reticulum and Mitochondria Depends Sensitively on the Composition of Its Tail Anchor." PLOS ONE 10 (10): e0139429.
- Galán, Asier, Begoña Sot, Oscar Llorca, José L Carrascosa, José M Valpuesta, and Arturo Muga. 2001. "Excluded Volume Effects on the Refolding and Assembly of an Oligomeric Protein." *The Journal of Biological Chemestry* 276 (2): 957–64.
- Gibbings, Derrick J., Constance Ciaudo, Mathieu Erhardt, and Olivier Voinnet. 2009. "Multivesicular Bodies Associate with Components of miRNA Effector Complexes and Modulate miRNA Activity." *Nature Cell Biology* 11 (9): 1143–49.
- Glisovic, Tina, Jennifer L. Bachorik, Jeongsik Yong, and Gideon Dreyfuss. 2008. "RNA-Binding Proteins and Post-Transcriptional Gene Regulation." *FEBS Letters* 582 (14): 1977–86.
- Golan, David E., Armen H. Tashjian Jr, Ehrin J. Armstrong, Joshua M. Galanter, April Wang Armstrong, Ramy A. Arnaout, and Harris S. Rose. 2006. *Principles of*

*Pharmacology: The Pathophysiologic Basis of Drug Therapy.* Casa Editrice Ambrosiana.

- Halbach, André, Christiane Landgraf, Stephan Lorenzen, Katja Rosenkranz, Rudolf Volkmer-Engert, Ralf Erdmann, and Hanspeter Rottensteiner. 2006. "Targeting of the Tail-Anchored Peroxisomal Membrane Proteins PEX26 and PEX15 Occurs through C-Terminal PEX19-Binding Sites." *Journal of Cell Ccience* 119 (June): 2508–17.
- Hegde, Ramanujan S, and Robert J Keenan. 2011. "Tail-Anchored Membrane Protein Insertion into the Endoplasmic Reticulum." *Nature Reviews. Molecular Cell Biology* 12 (12): 787–98.
- Hessa, Tara, Ajay Sharma, Malaiyalam Mariappan, Heather D. Eshleman, Erik Gutierrez, and Ramanujan S. Hegde. 2011. "Protein Targeting and Degradation Are Coupled for Elimination of Mislocalized Proteins." *Nature* 475 (7356): 394–97.
- Ho, J. J David, and Philip A. Marsden. 2014. "Competition and Collaboration between RNA-Binding Proteins and microRNAs." Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: RNA 5 (1): 69–86.
- Holloway, Michael P, and Richard J Bram. 1996. "A Hydrophobic Domain of Ca 2+ Modulating Cyclophilin Ligand Modulates Calcium Influx Signaling in T
   Lymphocytes." *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 271 (15): 8549–52.
- Hubstenberger, Arnaud, Maité Courel, Marianne Bénard, Sylvie Souquere, Michèle Ernoult-Lange, Racha Chouaib, Zhou Yi, et al. 2017. "P-Body Purification Reveals the Condensation of Repressed mRNA Regulons." *Molecular Cell* 68 (1): 144–157.e5.
- Jackson, Richard J, Christopher U T Hellen, and Tatyana V Pestova. 2010. "The Mechanism of Eukaryotic Translation Initiation and Principles of Its Regulation." *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* 10: 113–27.
- Jinek, Martin, Scott M Coyle, and Jennifer A Doudna. 2011. "Coupled 5' Nucleotide Recognition and Processivity in Xrn1-Mediated mRNA Decay." *Molecular Cell* 41: 600–608.
- Jonikas, M. C., S. R. Collins, V. Denic, E. Oh, E. M. Quan, V. Schmid, J. Weibezahn, et al. 2009. "Comprehensive Characterization of Genes Required for Protein Folding in the Endoplasmic Reticulum." *Science* 323 (5922): 1693–97.

Kalbfleisch, Ted, Alex Cambon, and Binks W. Wattenberg. 2007. "A Bioinformatics

Approach to Identifying Tail-Anchored Proteins in the Human Genome." *Traffic* 8 (12): 1687–94.

- Keene, Jack D. 2007. "RNA Regulons: Coordination of Post-Transcriptional Events." *Nature Reviews Genetics* 8 (7): 533–43.
- Kemper, Christian, Shukry J Habib, Gertraud Engl, Petra Heckmeyer, Kai S Dimmer, and Doron Rapaport. 2008. "Integration of Tail-Anchored Proteins into the Mitochondrial Outer Membrane Does Not Require Any Known Import Components." *Journal of Cell Science* 121 (Pt 12): 1990–98.
- Khabar, Khalid S.A. 2017. "Hallmarks of Cancer and AU-Rich Elements." Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: RNA 8 (1): 1–25.
- Kiho, Yukio, and Alexander Rich. 1964. "Induced Enzyme Formed on Bacterial Polyribosomes." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 51 (January): 111–18.
- Knight, B C, and S High. 1998. "Membrane Integration of Sec61alpha: A Core Component of the Endoplasmic Reticulum Translocation Complex." *The Biochemical Journal* 331 (Pt 1): 161–67.
- Krogh, Anders, Bjorn Larsson, Gunnar von Heijne, and Erik L.L Sonnhammer. 2001."Predicting Transmembrane Protein Topology with a Hidden Markov Model: Application to Complete Genomes." *Journal of Molecular Biology* 305 (3): 567–80.
- Kutay, Ulrike, Enno Hartmann, and Tom A. Rapoport. 1993. "A Class of Membrane Proteins with a C-Terminal Anchor." *Trends in Cell Biology* 3 (3): 72–75.
- Li, Gene-Wei, David Burkhardt, Carol Gross, and Jonathan S Weissman. 2014. "Quantifying Absolute Protein Synthesis Rates Reveals Principles Underlying Allocation of Cellular Resources." *Cell* 157: 624–35.
- Lin, Shuh-Yow, Melissa A. Vollrath, Sara Mangosing, Jun Shen, Elena Cardenas, and David P. Corey. 2016. "The Zebrafish Pinball Wizard Gene Encodes WRB, a Tail-Anchored-Protein Receptor Essential for Inner-Ear Hair Cells and Retinal Photoreceptors." *The Journal of Physiology* 594 (4): 895–914.
- Liu, Fang, David K. Jones, Willem J. de Lange, and Gail A. Robertson. 2016.
  "Cotranslational Association of mRNA Encoding Subunits of Heteromeric Ion Channels." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 113 (17): 4859–64.

Mangus, David A, Matthew C Evans, and Allan Jacobson. 2003. "Poly(A)-Binding

Proteins: Multifunctional Scaffolds for the Post- Transcriptional Control of Gene Expression." *Genome Biology* 4 (223).

- Mariappan, Malaiyalam, Agnieszka Mateja, Malgorzata Dobosz, Elia Bove, Ramanujan S. Hegde, and Robert J. Keenan. 2011. "The Mechanism of Membrane-Associated Steps in Tail-Anchored Protein Insertion." *Nature* 477 (7362): 61–66.
- Mateja, Agnieszka, Marcin Paduch, Hsin-Yang Chang, Anna Szydlowska, Anthony A.
  Kossiakoff, Ramanujan S. Hegde, and Robert J. Keenan. 2015. "Structure of the Get3
  Targeting Factor in Complex with Its Membrane Protein Cargo." *Science* 347 (6226): 1152–55.
- Mateja, Agnieszka, Anna Szlachcic, Maureen E. Downing, Malgorzata Dobosz, Malaiyalam Mariappan, Ramanujan S. Hegde, and Robert J. Keenan. 2009. "The Structural Basis of Tail-Anchored Membrane Protein Recognition by Get3." *Nature* 461 (7262): 361–66.
- Mayerhofer, Peter U. 2016. "Targeting and Insertion of Peroxisomal Membrane Proteins: ER Trafficking versus Direct Delivery to Peroxisomes." *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Cell Research* 1863 (5): 870–80.
- Meijer, Hedda A, and Adri A M Thomas. 2002. "Control of Eukaryotic Protein Synthesis by Upstream Open Reading Frames in the 5h-Untranslated Region of an mRNA." *Biochem. J* 367: 1–11.
- Mendell, Joshua T, Neda A Sharifi, Jennifer L Meyers, Francisco Martinez-Murillo, and Harry C Dietz. 2004. "Nonsense Surveillance Regulates Expression of Diverse Classes of Mammalian Transcripts and Mutes Genomic Noise." *Nature Genetics* 36 (10): 1073–78.
- Minvielle-Sebastia, Lionel, and Waiter Keller. 1999. "mRNA Polyadenylation and Its Coupling to Other RNA Processing Reactions and to Transcription." *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* 11: 352–57.
- Moore, Melissa J. 2005. "From Birth to Death: The Complex Lives of Eukaryotic mRNAs." *Science* 309 (5740): 1514–18.
- Morisaki, T., K. Lyon, K. F. DeLuca, J. G. DeLuca, B. P. English, Z. Zhang, L. D. Lavis, et al. 2016. "Real-Time Quantification of Single RNA Translation Dynamics in Living Cells." *Science* 352 (6292): 1425–29.
- Murata, Kenji, Sean Degmetich, Masato Kinoshita, and Eriko Shimada. 2009. "Expression

of the Congenital Heart Disease 5/tryptophan Rich Basic Protein Homologue Gene during Heart Development in Medaka Fish, Oryzias Latipes." *Development, Growth* & Differentiation 51 (2): 95–107.

- Natan, Eviatar, Jonathan N. Wells, Sarah A. Teichmann, and Joseph A. Marsh. 2017. "Regulation, Evolution and Consequences of Cotranslational Protein Complex Assembly." *Current Opinion in Structural Biology*, no. 42: 90–97.
- Nelson, David L., Michael M. Cox, and Albert L. Lehninger. 2012. *Lehninger Principles of Biochemistry*. 6th ed. Freeman, W.H. & Company.
- Nilsson, Ola B., Rickard Hedman, Jacopo Marino, Stephan Wickles, Lukas Bischoff, Magnus Johansson, Annika Müller-Lucks, et al. 2015. "Cotranslational Protein Folding inside the Ribosome Exit Tunnel." *Cell Reports* 12 (10): 1533–40.
- Palanisamy, V, A Jakymiw, E A van Tubergen, N J D'silva, and K L Kirkwood. 2012. "Control of Cytokine mRNA Expression by RNA-Binding Proteins and microRNAs." J Dent Res 91 (7): 651–58.
- Paoletti, R., S. Nicosia, F Clementi, and G Fumagalli. 2004. *Farmacologia Generale E Molecolare*. Edited by Francesco Clementi and Guido Fumagalli. 3rd ed. UTET.
- Patel, Prajal H, Scott A Barbee, and J Todd Blankenship. 2016. "GW-Bodies and P-Bodies Constitute Two Separate Pools of Sequestered Non- Translating RNAs." *PLoS ONE* 11 (3): e0150291.
- Peth, Andreas, Christoph Berndt, Wolfgang Henke, and Wolfgang Dubiel. 2007.
  "Downregulation of COP9 Signalosome Subunits Differentially Affects the CSN Complex and Target Protein Stability." *BMC Biochemistry* 8: 27.
- Plass, Mireya, Simon H. Rasmussen, and Anders Krogh. 2017. "Highly Accessible AU-Rich Regions in 3' Untranslated Regions Are Hotspots for Binding of Regulatory Factors." *PLoS Computational Biology* 13 (4): 1–26.
- Potter, Matthew D, and Christopher V Nicchitta. 2002. "Endoplasmic Reticulum-Bound Ribosomes Reside in Stable Association with the Translocon Following Termination of Protein Synthesis." *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277 (26): 23314–20.
- Powis, Katie, Bianca Schrul, Heather Tienson, Irina Gostimskaya, Michal Breker, Stephen High, Maya Schuldiner, Ursula Jakob, and Blanche Schwappach. 2013. "Get3 Is a Holdase Chaperone and Moves to Deposition Sites for Aggregated Proteins When Membrane Targeting Is Blocked." *Journal of Cell Science* 126 (Pt 2): 473–83.

- Prandini, Paola, Samuel Deutsch, Robert Lyle, Maryline Gagnebin, Celine Delucinge Vivier, Mauro Delorenzi, Corinne Gehrig, et al. 2007. "Natural Gene-Expression Variation in Down Syndrome Modulates the Outcome of Gene-Dosage Imbalance." *The American Journal of Human Genetics* 81: 252–63.
- Protter, David S.W., and Roy Parker. 2016. "Principles and Properties of Stress Granules." *Trends in Cell Biology* 26 (9): 668–79.
- Rabu, Catherine, Peter Wipf, Jeffrey L Brodsky, and Stephen High. 2008. "A Precursor-Specific Role for Hsp40/Hsc70 during Tail-Anchored Protein Integration at the Endoplasmic Reticulum." *The Journal of Biological Chemestry* 283 (41): 27504–13.
- Rivera-Monroy, Jhon, Lena Musiol, Kirsten Unthan-Fechner, Ákos Farkas, Anne Clancy, Javier Coy-Vergara, Uri Weill, et al. 2016. "Mice Lacking WRB Reveal Differential Biogenesis Requirements of Tail-Anchored Proteins in Vivo." *Scientific Reports* 6 (1): 39464.
- Rome, Michael E, Un Seng Chio, Meera Rao, Harry Gristick, and Shu-ou Shan. 2014. "Differential Gradients of Interaction Affinities Drive Efficient Targeting and Recycling in the GET Pathway." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 111 (46): E4929-35.
- Scherer, W F, J T Syverton, and G O Gey. 1953. "Studies on the Propagation in Vitro of Poliomyelitis Viruses. IV. Viral Multiplication in a Stable Strain of Human Malignant Epithelial Cells (Strain HeLa) Derived from an Epidermoid Carcinoma of the Cervix." *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 97 (5). The Rockefeller University Press: 695–710.
- Schuldiner, Maya, Sean R Collins, Natalie J Thompson, Vladimir Denic, Arunashree Bhamidipati, Thanuja Punna, Jan Ihmels, et al. 2005. "Exploration of the Function and Organization of the Yeast Early Secretory Pathway through an Epistatic Miniarray Profile." *Cell* 123: 507–19.
- Schuldiner, Maya, Jutta Metz, Volker Schmid, Vladimir Denic, Magdalena Rakwalska, Hans Dieter Schmitt, Blanche Schwappach, and Jonathan S. Weissman. 2008. "The GET Complex Mediates Insertion of Tail-Anchored Proteins into the ER Membrane." *Cell* 134 (4): 634–45.
- Sehgal, Pravinkumar B., James E. Darnel Jr., and Igor Tamm. 1976. "The Inhibition of DRB (5,6-Dichloro-1-β-D-Ribofuranosylbenzimidazole) of hnRNA and mRNA

Production in HeLa Cells." Cell 9 (3). Cell Press: 473-80.

- Shao, Sichen, and Ramanujan S Hegde. 2011. "Membrane Protein Insertion at the Endoplasmic Reticulum." Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology 27 (January): 25–56.
- Sharma, Shivani, Suneer Verma, Madavan Vasudevan, Subhasis Samanta, Jitendra K Thakur, and Ritu Kulshreshtha. 2013. "The Interplay of HuR and miR-3134 in Regulation of AU Rich Transcriptome." *RNA Biology* 10 (8): 1283–90.
- Shen, Zhong Jian, and James S. Malter. 2015. "Regulation of AU-Rich Element RNA Binding Proteins by Phosphorylation and the Prolyl Isomerase Pin1." *Biomolecules* 5 (2): 412–34.
- Shieh, Y.-W., P. Minguez, P. Bork, J. J. Auburger, D. L. Guilbride, G. Kramer, and B. Bukau. 2015. "Operon Structure and Cotranslational Subunit Association Direct Protein Assembly in Bacteria." *Science* 350 (6261): 678–80.
- Shing, Jennifer C, Lonn D Lindquist, Nica Borgese, and Richard J Bram. 2017. "CAML Mediates Survival of Myc-Induced Lymphoma Cells Independent of Tail-Anchored Protein Insertion." Cell Death Discovery 3: 16098.
- Shoemaker, Christopher J, and Rachel Green. 2012. "Translation Drives mRNA Quality Control." *Nature Structural & Molecular Biology* 19 (6): 594–601.
- Shrimal, Shiteshu, Natalia A Cherepanova, and Reid Gilmore. 2017. "DC2 and KCP2 Mediate the Interaction between the Oligosaccharyltransferase and the ER Translocon." *The Journal of Cell Biology*, August.
- Simone, Laura E, and Jack D Keene. 2013. "Mechanisms Coordinating ELAV/Hu mRNA Regulons." *Current Opinion in Genetics & Development* 23 (1): 35–43.
- Siwiak, Marlena, and Piotr Zielenkiewicz. 2015. "Co-Regulation of Translation in Protein Complexes." *Biology Direct* 10 (1): 18.
- Sojka, Stephen, Nirav M Amin, Devin Gibbs, Kathleen S Christine, Marta S Charpentier, and Frank L Conlon. 2014. "Congenital Heart Disease Protein 5 Associates with CASZ1 to Maintain Myocardial Tissue Integrity." *Development* 141 (15): 3040–49.
- Stefanovic, Sandra, and Ramanujan S Hegde. 2007. "Identification of a Targeting Factor for Posttranslational Membrane Protein Insertion into the ER." *Cell* 128: 1147–59.
- Stefer, Susanne, Simon Reitz, Fei Wang, Klemens Wild, Yin-Yuin Pang, Daniel Schwarz, Jörg Bomke, et al. 2011. "Structural Basis for Tail-Anchored Membrane Protein

Biogenesis by the Get3-Receptor Complex." Science 333 (6043): 758-62.

- Stevens, Audrey, and Toni L. Poole. 1995. "5'-Exonuclease-2 of Saccharomyces Cerevisiae. Purification and Features of Ribonuclease Activity with Comparison to 5'-exonuclease-1." *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 270 (27): 16063–69.
- Tange, Thomas Ø, Ajit Nott, and Melissa J Moore. 2004. "The Ever-Increasing Complexities of the Exon Junction Complex." *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* 16: 279–84.
- The UniProt Consortium. 2017. "UniProt: The Universal Protein Knowledgebase." *Nucleic Acids Research* 45.
- Tran, David D, Helen R Russell, Shari L Sutor, Jan van Deursen, and Richard J Bram.
  2003. "CAML Is Required for Efficient EGF Receptor Recycling." *Developmental Cell* 5 (2): 245–56.
- Vilardi, F., H. Lorenz, and B. Dobberstein. 2011. "WRB Is the Receptor for TRC40/Asna1-Mediated Insertion of Tail-Anchored Proteins into the ER Membrane." *Journal of Cell Science* 124 (8): 1301–7.
- Vilardi, Fabio, Milena Stephan, Anne Clancy, Andreas Janshoff, and Blanche Schwappach. 2014. "WRB and CAML Are Necessary and Sufficient to Mediate Tail-Anchored Protein Targeting to the ER Membrane." *PLoS ONE* 9 (1): e85033.
- Voth, Wilhelm, Markus Schick, Stephanie Gates, Sheng Li, Fabio Vilardi, Irina Gostimskaya, Daniel R. Southworth, Blanche Schwappach, and Ursula Jakob. 2014.
  "The Protein Targeting Factor Get3 Functions as ATP-Independent Chaperone under Oxidative Stress Conditions." *Molecular Cell* 56 (1): 116–27.
- Wang, Fei, Emily C Brown, Gary Mak, Jimmy Zhuang, and Vladimir Denic. 2010. "A Chaperone Cascade Sorts Proteins for Posttranslational Membrane Insertion into the Endoplasmic Reticulum." *Molecular Cell* 40: 159–71.
- Wang, Fei, Charlene Chan, Nicholas R. Weir, and Vladimir Denic. 2014. "The Get1/2 Transmembrane Complex Is an Endoplasmic-Reticulum Membrane Protein Insertase." *Nature* 512 (7515): 441–44.
- Wang, Fei, Andrew Whynot, Matthew Tung, and Vladimir Denic. 2011. "The Mechanism of Tail-Anchored Protein Insertion into the ER Membrane." *Molecular Cell* 43 (5): 738–50.

Wells, Jonathan N, L Therese Bergendahl, and Joseph A Marsh. 2015. "Co-Translational

Assembly of Protein Complexes." Biochemical Society Transactions 43 (6): 1221-26.

- Wilusz, Carol J., Michael Wormington, and Stuart W. Peltz. 2001. "The Cap-to-Tail Guide to mRNA Turnover." *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* 2 (4): 237–46.
- Winzen, Reinhard, Gayatri Gowrishankar, Frank Bollig, Natalie Redich, Klaus Resch, and Helmut Holtmann. 2004. "Distinct Domains of AU-Rich Elements Exert Different Functions in mRNA Destabilization and Stabilization by p38 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase or HuR." *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 24 (11): 4835–47.
- Wu, Xiangyue, and Gary Brewer. 2012. "The Regulation of mRNA Stability in Mammalian Cells: 2.0." *Gene* 500 (1): 10–21.
- Yamamoto, Yasunori, and Toshiaki Sakisaka. 2012. "Molecular Machinery for Insertion of Tail-Anchored Membrane Proteins into the Endoplasmic Reticulum Membrane in Mammalian Cells." *Molecular Cell* 48 (3): 387–97.
- Yanagitani, Kota, Szymon Juszkiewicz, and Ramanujan S. Hegde. 2017. "UBE2O Is a Quality Control Factor for Orphans of Multiprotein Complexes." *Science* 357 (6350): 472–75.
- Yuan, Xu, Jun Yao, David Norris, David D. Tran, Richard J. Bram, Gong Chen, and Bernhard Luscher. 2008. "Calcium-Modulating Cyclophilin Ligand Regulates Membrane Trafficking of Postsynaptic GABAA Receptors." *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience* 38 (2): 277–89.
- Zalisko, Benjamin E, Charlene Chan, Vladimir Denic, Ronald S Rock, and Robert J Keenan. 2017. "Tail-Anchored Protein Insertion by a Single Get1/2 Heterodimer." *Cell Reports*, no. 20: 2287–93.